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IMPORTANT NOTICE: 
We restated our financial statements included in our prior Annual Reports, SEC filings,  
earnings press releases, investor conference presentations, and other communications for  
the fiscal years ended August 31, 2004 and 2005, and the quarters included therein, as well 
as for our fiscal quarters ended November 31, 2005 and February 28, 2006. Additionally,  
our preliminary unaudited financial information for the fiscal quarters ended May 31, 2006,  
August 31, 2006, and November 30, 2006, which were included in press releases on  
June 20, 2006, October 18, 2006, and February 7, 2007, have also been adjusted. For more 
information on this restatement and the related adjustments, we refer you to our Annual  
Report on Form 10-K and our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, which were filed with the  
Securities and Exchange Commission on May 22, 2007 and May 25, 2007. 
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A P O L L O  G R O U P :  A  R E C O G N I Z E D  L E A D E R  I N  A D U L T  E D U C A T I O N

“The rapid evolution of technology in the global economy has created a demand for education 

at all levels. Not only is the pace of change rapid, it is accelerating. Education must not only be 

relevant to the demands of technology, it must be efficient in terms of time and place. Thus the

current mantra—‘Anywhere, Anytime Education.’ Many traditional educational institutions are

unable to respond to the demands of this market, but the Apollo Group companies respond rapidly

and do it with innovation and inspiration. The writing’s on the chalkboard. In the 21st century there

will be two kinds of educational institutions: the quick and the dead.”

J O H N  G. S P E R L I N G, P h.D.

C H A I R M A N  O F  T H E  B O A R D, C E O

A P O L L O  G R O U P,  I N C .
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C H A I R M A N’S  L E T T E R

We are pleased to report another year of outstanding growth throughout the company. Every year since we began in 1976,

we have expanded our market, improved our performance, and increased our profitability. This year was no exception. 

All of our divisions prospered in 2000, and University of Phoenix continues to dominate the market for higher education

among working professionals. In fact, today more working professionals earn their college degree at University of Phoenix

than any other university in the nation. 

Most recently, our success has been supported by the popularity of University of Phoenix Online, which in 2000 increased

revenue by 47.5% and increased its operating margin to 28.5%. Already a leader in adult education via the Internet, University

of Phoenix Online has only begun to realize its potential. In fact, experts estimate that 90% of the Internet education 

market has yet to be tapped, and University of Phoenix Online is uniquely positioned to answer this enormous demand. 

For the future we have initiated several strategic long-term plans. To provide working capital for the expansion of 

our Online campus, we issued a tracking stock designed to “track” the performance of our Online campus. The issuance

of University of Phoenix Online common stock (UOPX) raised over $70 million. This capital infusion will enable us to

enhance University of Phoenix Online’s infrastructure, increase staffing, expand its marketing and sales, and in so doing,

leverage University of Phoenix’s leadership position and further increase its market share. 

With a view to improving the timelines and flexibility of our programs company-wide, we have undertaken an e-campus 

initiative. Our goal is to digitize our course materials, including textbooks, Powerpoint® presentations, simulations,

and learning resources for electronic delivery. We have chosen Microsoft Reader ® as our e-campus platform. 

This initiative will enable us to granularize our course materials by creating a database of learning objects that can be

mixed, matched, and continuously updated. As the next evolutionary step in higher education, e-campus will make our

curriculum development process more efficient and timely, thereby enabling us to deliver a more current product and

stay several steps ahead of our competition.

In response to demand from our corporate customers, we began development of an online corporate training division.

Among adults, the market for online training and certification is growing even faster than the market for college degrees

and is projected to reach $6 billion by 2002. We plan to offer an assortment of training programs via the Internet in the

emerging areas of e-business, IT, technology management, as well as the general business disciplines that are always in high

demand. In addition, we will be customizing curricula for the specific needs of various companies and industries.

Looking forward, we at Apollo Group confirm our commitment to provide higher education of unsurpassed convenience,

efficiency, and value to working professionals. The dramatic spread of our innovative educational format, from coast to

coast and around the world, confirms the power of an idea whose time has come. We’re at the forefront of a new era in

higher education, and we’re just getting started.
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Todd S. Nelson 

President and Director 

Apollo Group, Inc.

John G. Sperling, Ph.D. 

Chairman of the Board, CEO 

Apollo Group, Inc.
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“Ralph Waldo Emerson said: ‘The secret of 

education is respecting the pupil,’ and that’s

the premise on which Apollo Group is based.

Across the board, our programs respect our

student’s time and obligations. Our courses

recognize their knowledge and intelligence.

And our corporate philosophy answers their

expectations for value and service. For over

25 years, we’ve been the fastest-growing 

university in the U.S., so apparently respecting

the pupil is also the secret of good business.”

Todd S. Nelson, President and Director 

Apollo Group, Inc. 

Apollo Group, Inc., has been delivering higher education

programs to working adults for over 25 years. Apollo

Group, Inc., operates through its subsidiaries, the

University of Phoenix, Inc., the Institute for Professional

Development, the College for Financial Planning

Institutes Corporation, Western International University,

Inc., and Apollo Learning Group, Inc. The consolidated

enrollment in its educational programs makes it 

the largest private institution of higher education in 

the United States. It offers educational programs and 

services at 54 campuses and 96 learning centers in 

35 states, Puerto Rico, and Vancouver, British Columbia.

Combined degree enrollment was 100,900 students 

as of August 31, 2000.

A P O L L O  G R O U P :  A N S W E R I N G  T H E  D E M A N D  F O R  H I G H E R  E D U C A T I O N



U N I V E R S I T Y  O F  P H O E N I X  O N L I N E

The Internet has dramatically changed the way we live and the way we learn. Although distance education has been

around a long time, the Internet has radically expanded its power and reach. Right from the start, University of Phoenix

has been uniquely qualified to utilize this new technology.

As early as 1989, University of Phoenix was among the first colleges to offer degree programs via the Internet. At that time,

our successful campus model of adult education was the perfect format for Internet delivery. Curricula were already 

standardized and therefore reproducible. In addition, most of our student administration could be handled via phone or

fax. As a result, we were able to deliver degree programs 100% via the Internet. Today, University of Phoenix Online is the

nation’s leading private Internet university. 

University of Phoenix Online’s enrollments continue to increase. In fact, in the last three years our enrollments have

expanded by 240% — from approximately 4,700 students in 1997 to over 16,000 students currently. At the same time, our

operating margin has more than tripled from 9.2% in 1997 to 28.5% this year.

At a time when many dot-com companies are going out of business, and most have never shown a profit, University of

Phoenix Online is growing strong, and has been generating impressive profits year after year.

Aside from being first-to-market with a superior product, our dramatic success is the result of three factors: demand for

higher education, demand for online education, and the success of our students.

First, the demand for higher education has never been greater. Education is already the second largest industry in America,

with revenues close to $800 billion. In addition, through the year 2006, a majority of the fastest growing and highest

paying occupations will require at least a bachelor’s degree.

Second, the demand for online education is growing faster than any other field of education. Analysts estimate the global

market for Web-based higher education and training will range from $21 billion to $740 billion by 2003.

N A N C Y  W E N D O R F

Senior Program Manager/Motorola 
Scottsdale, Arizona
Master of Business Administration/Global Management
2000

The Online program was an answer to my prayers. 

It enabled me to re-engineer myself for the global

challenges, and made me a more viable and valuable

contributor to my company. It was also a very 

pleasant experience. While working on our projects, 

I really got to know the other students and formed

lasting friendships. 

“University of Phoenix Online came to the

forefront as a shining example of the new

technocracies that enable us to manage the

power of the Internet while experiencing 

an extremely well thought-out system of

higher education.”

Nancy Wendorf

A  S H I N I N G  E X A M P L E  O F  T H E  I N T E R N E T ’S  P O W E R
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Third, our tremendous growth reflects the success and satisfaction of our students. Every year, University of Phoenix

Online makes it possible for thousands of working adults to acquire valuable knowledge and skills they need to succeed,

without interrupting their careers. The quality of course materials, the expertise of faculty, and the success of graduates has

given us a well-deserved reputation for educational excellence. In fact, in recent surveys, 95% of Online alumni express 

a high level of satisfaction with their education and its impact on their careers. Another 85% stated that no other school

could have met their needs as well as University of Phoenix. It’s not just the graduates who realize the value of our education,

because 69% of Online students receive some level of tuition assistance from their employers. Clearly, University of Phoenix

and the Internet have combined to create a higher education product of unprecedented value.

R E A L I Z I N G  T H E  O N L I N E  M A R K E T  P O T E N T I A L

With over $70 million generated from the tracking stock, University of Phoenix Online will have the capital resources

needed to aggressively seize market share before most of our competition has even brought its product to market. 

“Even optimistically, our current marketing efforts reach only a small fraction of our potential U.S. market,”says Online

Chief Operating Officer Brian Mueller.“Extrapolating our current success, we see the immediate potential to double 

or triple our enrollments within 2 or 3 years.”

“That’s just the beginning,”says Online President Tony Digiovanni.“The demand for U.S. education brings thousands 

and thousands of foreign students to U.S. universities every year. But millions more could benefit from our knowledge

and expertise through an effective online delivery format.”

“As a result of global competition, rapidly-changing technology, and an increasingly knowledge-based economy, education

is becoming a lifelong requirement for success around the world,”explains Digiovanni.“In most developed countries today,

40% of the workforce are knowledge workers. This creates a global market for online education with a potential for 

hundreds of billions of dollars. Once again, University of Phoenix Online is uniquely qualified to answer this demand.”

E D U C A T I O N  A T  T H E  S P E E D  O F  L I F E

B R A N C E  H U D S O N  

Department Administrator for Internal Medicine/
Texas Tech University
Odessa, Texas 
Master of Business Administration
2001

It would have taken me more than a year just to get

accepted at some universities. But my University of

Phoenix enrollment advisor helped me quickly overcome

all the obstacles and get started. The entire University

was very accommodating to my needs. Overall, classes

at University of Phoenix are better than any other

classes I’ve had. The best part is how the group projects

and discussions relate back to my job.

“I attended University of Phoenix Online

because my time is very valuable. I manage

60 employees and work 60 hours a week.

More importantly, I’m a father of three

girls—and I wanted to be there for their 

soccer games and cheerleading.”

Brance Hudson



U N I V E R S I T Y  O F  P H O E N I X

Among academic institutions, where history is often measured in centuries, University of Phoenix (UOP) has a relatively

short but very proud history of providing educational opportunities for working adults.

The University has grown considerably, from one campus with eight students in Phoenix, Arizona, in 1976 to over 

80,000 students attending classes throughout the United States, Canada, and the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico 

today. With 96 physical campuses and learning centers, plus its Online campus, University of Phoenix means 

education anytime, anyplace.

Extending its position as the largest private university in the U.S.,University of Phoenix expanded enrollments by 21% in

2000. As is our mission, University of Phoenix continues to stay on the leading-edge of education, with curricula that offer 

the skills and knowledge that are in highest demand. For example, according to the 1999 Occupational Outlook Handbook,

the fastest growing occupations through 2006 will be related to computers, the Internet, and information systems. As a

result, University of Phoenix was among the first universities to offer degree programs in the high-demand areas of information

technology and e-business. Today, both of these degrees are among our most popular programs.

This year, the University started new programs in information technology, e-business, human services, health care 

services, and e-education. We also created a new bachelor of science in management degree, for use in partnership with

community colleges. The new degree will be marketed to associate degree students from the community colleges as a 

2+2 program, which provides a clear path for completing a bachelor’s degree.

In fiscal year 2000, new campuses were opened in Ohio and Pennsylvania, and we will soon be opening new campuses

in Missouri, Massachusetts, Texas, and Alberta, Canada. Pending North Central Association approval, we will be opening

a campus in Wisconsin.

We have also aggressively expanded the number of computer labs at our campuses, allowing us to offer courses such 

as the popular Microsoft® certifications. In addition, the University plans to extend the range of certification and training

programs in information technology.

K A T R I N A  B R O W N  

Master Mechanic Director/Long Island Railroad
Amityville, New York
Bachelor of Science/Business Management
2000
Master of Arts in Organizational Management
2001

Obtaining my degree at University of Phoenix Online

has provided me with a wealth of knowledge and

understanding and enabled me to help my employer

move into the 21st century. The instructors are very

knowledgeable, understanding, and available. The

learning team format was very productive. Each

member enhanced the others with their various 

educational and professional backgrounds. I also

liked the closeness I had with my peers.

“I’m a mother. I’m a wife. I work full time.

Only University of Phoenix Online made it

possible for me to pursue my degree.”

Katrina Brown

A  W E A L T H  O F  K N O W L E D G E
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Laura Palmer Noone, President, attributes the University’s success to an unwavering focus on the key elements of the

teaching and learning model:“Everything the University does is aimed at improving student learning and meeting the needs

of adult students. From up-to-date curriculum, through practitioner faculty with real world experience, to state-of-the-art

student service systems, our goal is to enhance student learning.”

I N S T I T U T E  F O R  P R O F E S S I O N A L  D E V E L O P M E N T

The Institute for Professional Development (IPD), founded in 1973, is a higher education development and management

corporation established to conduct research and development activities with respect to adult education needs and

trends. The primary mission of IPD is to assist accredited private colleges and universities in expanding and diversifying

their academic offerings and student population base through the development of quality academic degree programs

designed to meet the educational needs of working adults. IPD accomplishes this mission by contracting with colleges

and universities to assist them in developing unique adult-oriented degree programs specific to the needs of the institution

and market. Services provided by IPD include program promotion, student recruitment, operational and financial systems,

financial resources, program administration, and management consultation and training.

IPD provides program development and management services under long-term contracts that meet the guidelines of the

partner institutions’ respective regional accrediting associations and the institutions’ missions. IPD currently provides

these services to 22 regionally accredited private colleges and universities at 27 learning centers in 22 states. Approximately

18,600 degree-seeking students are enrolled in IPD-assisted programs.

W E S T E R N  I N T E R N A T I O N A L  U N I V E R S I T Y

The regionally accredited Western International University (WIU) prepares students for leadership positions in global

business and technology. Like UOP, WIU is designed primarily for working professionals, but also attracts international

students from more than 30 countries. In contrast to UOP, however, WIU offers more traditional instruction, focused 

on the individual rather than the group process. This year, WIU continued to broaden its recruitment of international

T H E  E S S E N T I A L S  F O R  S U C C E S S

R U S S E L L  W O N G  

Regional Manager/Cummins Engine Company
Kent, Washington 
Bachelor of Science/Business Administration
2000

The program taught me critical decision-making based

on statistical and financial models, improved my time

management, and amplified my communication and

team-working skills. The learning team format practiced

at University of Phoenix is imperative for success in

today’s dynamic working environment. My experience

as a regional manager, combined with my degree,

has prepared me for advancement into a national or

international position. 

“It was a high caliber program. The instructors,

the subject matter, and the teaching format

were all excellent. Well organized. On a scale

of 1 to 10, I would give it a 9.9.”

Russell Wong
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students, particularly from Eastern European and South American countries. Looking forward to next year, plans are

underway to provide MBA and MPA prerequisite courses through the Internet. Building upon the successful delivery of those

courses, work will progress to provide a full web-based MBA in International Business. Discussions are currently underway

to develop partnerships that will bring our degree programs to the United Arab Emirates and the United Kingdom.

C O L L E G E  F O R  F I N A N C I A L  P L A N N I N G

The College for Financial Planning (College) created the Certified Financial Planner designation, which is now the

industry’s most respected credential. This year, the College expanded its leadership role in the field of financial services

education with the introduction of customized curriculum and training for corporate customers. Taking advantage of

new technology and the Internet to improve operations and products, the College is incorporating the Web into its business

model to offer online registration, enrollment, payment, and course delivery. During the next year, the College is looking

forward to the conversion of its programs to both CD-ROM and E-Book formats.
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A P O L L O  G R O U P ,  I N C .  F I N A N C I A L  H I G H L I G H T S

During fiscal year 2000, the University of Phoenix added three new campuses in Philadelphia and Pittsburgh,

Pennsylvania, and Cleveland, Ohio, and redesignated the Colorado Springs, Colorado, learning center as a campus.

N E T  I N C O M E

in millions

UNIVERSITY OF PHOENIX

CAMPUS LOCATIONS
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S E L E C T E D  C O N S O L I D A T E D  F I N A N C I A L  I N F O R M A T I O N  O F  A P O L L O  G R O U P ,  I N C .

The following selected financial and operating data of Apollo Group, Inc. are qualified by reference to and should be read in

conjunction with the financial statements and the related notes and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial

Condition and Results of Operations.” The statement of operations data for the years ended August 31, 2000, 1999, and 1998

and the balance sheet data as of August 31, 2000 and 1999 are derived from the audited consolidated financial statements of

Apollo Group, Inc. Diluted net income per share and diluted weighted average shares outstanding have been retroactively

restated for stock splits.

Y E A R  E N D E D  A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9 1 9 9 8 1 9 9 7 1 9 9 6

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Statement of Operations Data: 
Revenues:

Tuition and other, net $ 609,997 $ 498,846 $ 384,877 $ 279,195 $211,247
Costs and expenses: 

Instructional costs and services 352,874 287,582 223,525 161,996 124,664 
Selling and promotional 96,491 79,143 57,458 42,097 33,969 
General and administrative 46,555 39,368 33,708 24,295 20,568 

495,920 406,093 314,691 228,388 179,201 
Income from operations 114,077 92,753 70,186 50,807 32,046 
Interest income, net 6,228 5,229 6,086 4,174 2,951 
Income before income taxes 120,305 97,982 76,272 54,981 34,997 
Provision for income taxes 49,114 38,977 29,975 21,602 13,605 
Net income $ 71,191 $ 59,005 $ 46,297 $ 33,379 $ 21,392 
Diluted net income per share $ 0.93 $ 0.75 $ 0.59 $ 0.43 $ 0.28 
Diluted weighted average shares outstanding 76,629 78,834 79,086 77,726 76,763 

A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9 1 9 9 8 1 9 9 7 1 9 9 6

(Dollars in thousands)

Balance Sheet Data: 
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash $ 95,593 $ 77,332 $ 75,039 $ 78,855 $ 63,267 
Marketable securities 64,246 39,571 45,467 41,429 13,273 
Total cash and marketable securities $ 159,839 $ 116,903 $120,506 $120,284 $ 76,540 
Total assets $ 404,790 $ 348,342 $ 305,160 $194,910 $137,850
Current liabilities $ 131,089 $ 108,787 $ 95,574 $ 67,394 $ 54,804 
Long-term liabilities 12,493 8,435 9,778 3,199 2,432 
Shareholders’ equity 261,208 231,120 199,808 124,317 80,614 
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 404,790 $ 348,342 $ 305,160 $194,910 $137,850 

Operating Statistics: 
Degree enrollments at end of year 100,900 86,800 71,400 56,200 46,900 
Number of locations: 

Campuses 54 49 42 35 35 
Learning centers 96 80 71 60 49 

Total number of locations 150 129 113 95 84 

We did not pay any cash dividends on our common stock during any of the periods set forth in the table above.

15



M A N A G E M E N T’S  D I S C U S S I O N  A N D  A N A L Y S I S  O F  F I N A N C I A L  C O N D I T I O N  A N D
R E S U L T S  O F  O P E R A T I O N S  O F  A P O L L O  G R O U P ,  I N C .

This Annual Report, including the “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

of Apollo Group, Inc.” and the “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations of

University of Phoenix Online” contain forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements are inherently uncertain

and subject to risks. Such statements should be viewed with caution. Forward-looking statements in this report include, but

are not limited to, statements such as: 1) we believe that our cash from operations along with our existing cash balances and

availability under our line of credit will be adequate to fund our capital and operating needs for the next 12 to 18 months; 

2) although we believe that the OIG audit will be resolved without any negative impact on Institute for Professional

Development, as with any program review or audit, no assurance can be given as to the final outcome since the matters are

not yet resolved; 3) total purchases of property and equipment for us for the year ended August 31, 2001, are expected to range

from $38.0 to $42.0 million; 4) although the analysis of the impact of SAB No. 101 has not been completed, it is not expected

to have a material effect on our results of operations; 5) total purchases of property and equipment for University of Phoenix

Online for the year ended August 31, 2001, are expected to range from $4.0 to $6.0 million; 6) we anticipate that seasonal

trends in the second and fourth quarters will continue in the future.

Future events and actual results could differ materially from those set forth in the forward-looking statements as a result of

many factors. Statements in this Annual Report, including “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements” and “Management’s

Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” describe factors, among others, that could 

contribute to or cause such differences. Additional factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those

expressed in such forward-looking statements include, without limitation; 1) new or revised interpretations of regulatory

requirements; 2) changes in or new interpretations of other applicable laws, rules, and regulations; 3) failure to maintain or

renew required regulatory approvals, accreditation, or state authorizations by University of Phoenix or certain Institute for

Professional Development client institutions; 4) failure to obtain authorizations from states in which University of Phoenix

does not currently provide degree programs; 5) failure to obtain the North Central Association of Colleges and Schools’

approval for University of Phoenix to operate in new states; 6) changes in student enrollment; and 7) other factors set forth

in this Annual Report. These forward-looking statements are based on estimates, projections, beliefs, and assumptions of 

us and our management and speak only as of the date made and are not guarantees of future performance. We undertake no

obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements, or any facts, events, or circumstances after the 

date hereof that may bear upon forward-looking statements. You are advised, however, to consult any further disclosures we

make in our reports filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Background and Overview

Our tuition and other revenues, net of student discounts, have increased to $610.0 million in 2000 from $211.2 million in

1996. Net income has increased to $71.2 million in 2000 from $21.4 million in 1996. At August 31, 2000, we had approximately

100,900 degree seeking students.

From September 1996 through August 2000, University of Phoenix opened 14 campuses. Start-up losses for new campuses 

in new markets average $700,000 to $900,000 per site. These start-up losses are incurred over a 17 to 20 month period, at

which time the enrollments at these new campuses average 200 to 300 students. Losses for establishing a learning center 

in a market currently served by University of Phoenix average $200,000. Institute for Professional Development established

operations at five campuses with client institutions. Start-up losses for new contract sites average from $300,000 to 

$400,000 per site over a 21 to 24 month period.

Approximately 93% of our tuition and other net revenues in 2000 consist of tuition revenues. Tuition revenue is recognized

on a weekly basis, pro rata over the period of instruction. Our tuition and other net revenues also include sales of textbooks

and other education-related products, application fees, other student fees, and other income. Our tuition and other net 

revenues vary from period to period based on several factors that include (1) the aggregate number of students attending

classes, (2) the number of classes held during the period, and (3) the weighted average tuition price per credit hour (weighted

by program and location). University of Phoenix tuition revenues currently represent approximately 89% of consolidated

tuition revenues. Institute for Professional Development tuition revenues consist of the contractual share of tuition revenues

from students enrolled in programs at its client institutions. Institute for Professional Development’s contracts with its

respective client institutions generally have terms of five to ten years with provisions for renewal.
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We categorize our expenses as instructional costs and services, selling and promotional, and general and administrative.

Instructional costs and services at University of Phoenix, Western International University, and the College for Financial

Planning consist primarily of costs related to the delivery and administration of our educational programs that include 

faculty compensation, administrative salaries for departments that provide service directly to the students, financial aid 

processing costs, the costs of educational materials sold, facility leases and other occupancy costs, bad debt expense, and

depreciation and amortization of property and equipment. University of Phoenix and Western International University 

faculty members are paid for one course offering at a time. All classroom facilities are leased or, in some cases, are provided

by the students’ employers at no charge to us. Instructional costs and services at Institute for Professional Development 

consist primarily of program administration, student services, and classroom lease expense. Most of the other instructional

costs for Institute for Professional Development-assisted programs, including faculty, financial aid processing, and other

administrative salaries, are the responsibility of its client institutions.

Selling and promotional costs consist primarily of compensation for enrollment advisors and corporate marketing, advertising

costs, production of marketing materials, and other costs related to selling and promotional functions.

General and administrative costs consist primarily of administrative salaries, occupancy costs, depreciation and amortization,

and other related costs for departments such as executive management, information systems, corporate accounting, human

resources, and other departments that do not provide direct services to our students. To the extent possible, we centralize

these services to avoid duplication of effort.

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth our consolidated statement of operations data expressed as a percentage of tuition and other

net revenues for the periods indicated:

Y E A R  E N D E D  A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9 1 9 9 8

Revenues: 
Tuition and other, net 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Costs and expenses: 
Instructional costs and services 57.8 57.6 58.1 
Selling and promotional 15.8 15.9 14.9 
General and administrative 7.7 7.9 8.8 

81.3 81.4 81.8 
Income from operations 18.7 18.6 18.2 
Interest income, net 1.0 1.0 1.6 
Income before income taxes 19.7 19.6 19.8 
Less provision for income taxes 8.0 7.8 7.8 
Net income 11.7% 11.8% 12.0%

Year Ended August 31, 2000, Compared with the Year Ended August 31, 1999

Tuition and other net revenues increased by 22.3% to $610.0 million in 2000 from $498.8 million in 1999 primarily due to 

a 16.1% increase in average full-time equivalent degree student enrollments and tuition price increases averaging four to five 

percent (depending on the geographic area and program) at University of Phoenix. Most of our University of Phoenix 

campuses, which include their respective learning centers, had increases in net revenues and average full-time equivalent

degree student enrollments from 1999 to 2000.

Tuition and other net revenues for the year ended August 31, 2000 and 1999, consist primarily of $540.4 million and 

$442.0 million, respectively, of net tuition revenues from students enrolled in degree programs and $29.1 million and 

$24.8 million, respectively, of net tuition revenues from students enrolled in non-degree programs. 

Instructional costs and services increased by 22.7% to $352.9 million in 2000 from $287.6 million in 1999 due primarily to the

direct costs necessary to support the increase in degree student enrollments and the $6.0 million charge related to the 

U.S. Department of Education agreement. Direct costs consist primarily of faculty compensation, related staff salaries at each

respective location, classroom lease expenses, and financial aid processing costs. These costs as a percentage of tuition and

other net revenues increased to 57.8% in 2000 from 57.6% in 1999 due to the $6.0 million charge related to the U.S. Department

of Education agreement. Excluding the $6.0 million charge, instructional costs and services as a percentage of tuition and

other net revenues would have decreased to 56.9% in 2000 from 57.6% in 1999 due to greater net revenues being spread over

a proportionately lower increase in instructional costs and services. We may not be able to leverage our recurring costs to the

same extent as we face increased costs related to the expansion into additional markets.
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Selling and promotional expenses increased by 21.9% to $96.5 million in 2000 from $79.1 million in 1999 due primarily to

additional advertising and marketing. These expenses as a percentage of tuition and other net revenues remained relatively

consistent at 15.8% in 2000 from 15.9% in 1999. 

General and administrative expenses increased by 18.3% to $46.6 million in 2000 from $39.4 million in 1999 due primarily 

to increased employee expenses related primarily to information services and depreciation related to the implementation 

of information support systems. General and administrative expenses as a percentage of tuition and other net revenues

remained relatively consistent at 7.7% in 2000 from 7.9% in 1999.

Net interest income was $6.2 million and $5.2 million in 2000 and 1999, respectively. Net interest income increased in 2000 due

primarily to higher average cash balances. Interest expense was $431,000 and $57,000 in 2000 and 1999, respectively.

Our effective tax rate increased to 40.8% in 2000 from 39.8% in 1999. This increase is due primarily to lower tax-exempt interest

income and higher state taxes in new tax jurisdictions.

Net income increased to $71.2 million in 2000 from $59.0 million in 1999 due primarily to increased enrollments, increased

tuition rates, and improved utilization in selling and promotional and general and administrative costs.

Year Ended August 31, 1999, Compared with the Year Ended August 31, 1998

Tuition and other net revenues increased by 29.6% to $498.8 million in 1999 from $384.9 million in 1998 due primarily to 

a 24.0% increase in average full-time equivalent degree student enrollments, tuition price increases averaging four to six 

percent (depending on the geographic area and program), and a higher concentration of enrollments at locations that

charge a higher rate per credit hour at University of Phoenix. Most of our University of Phoenix campuses, which include

their respective learning centers, had increases in net revenues and average full-time equivalent degree student enrollments

from 1998 to 1999.

Tuition and other net revenues for the year ended August 31, 1999 and 1998, consist primarily of $442.0 million and 

$334.2 million, respectively, of net tuition revenues from students enrolled in degree programs and $24.8 million and 

$23.1 million, respectively, of net tuition revenues from students enrolled in non-degree programs. 

Instructional costs and services increased by 28.7% to $287.6 million in 1999 from $223.5 million in 1998 due primarily to 

the direct costs necessary to support the increase in degree student enrollments. Direct costs consist primarily of faculty

compensation, related staff salaries at each respective location, classroom lease expenses, and financial aid processing costs.

These costs as a percentage of tuition and other net revenues decreased to 57.6% in 1999 from 58.1% in 1998 due primarily

to the exclusion of certain enrollment staff salaries and greater tuition and other net revenues being spread over the fixed

costs related to centralized student services. 

Selling and promotional expenses increased by 37.7% to $79.1 million in 1999 from $57.5 million in 1998 due primarily 

to the inclusion of certain enrollment staff salaries, additional advertising and marketing related to six new University of

Phoenix campuses opened during the year, and increased advertising and marketing for distance education. These expenses 

as a percentage of net revenues increased to 15.9% in 1999 from 14.9% in 1998 due to an increase in the number of campuses

opened in new markets in the last two years and the inclusion of certain enrollment staff salaries.

General and administrative expenses increased by 16.8% to $39.4 million in 1999 from $33.7 million in 1998 due primarily to

costs required to support the increased number of campuses and learning centers, increased information services expenditures,

and overall increases in general and administrative salaries. General and administrative expenses as a percentage of tuition

and other net revenues decreased to 7.9% in 1999 from 8.8% in 1998 due primarily to higher tuition and other net revenues

being spread over the fixed costs related to various centralized functions such as information services, corporate accounting,

and human resources. 

Net interest income was $5.2 million and $6.1 million in 1999 and 1998, respectively. Net interest income decreased in 

1999 due primarily to lower average cash balances as a result of stock repurchases and lower interest rates in effect during

1999. Interest expense was $57,000 and $119,000 in 1999 and 1998, respectively.

Our effective tax rate increased to 39.8% in 1999 from 39.3% in 1998. The increase is due primarily to the relative impact 

of tax-exempt interest income and of expenses that are non-deductible for tax purposes.

Net income increased to $59.0 million in 1999 from $46.3 million in 1998 due primarily to increased enrollments, increased

tuition rates, and improved utilization in instructional costs and services and general and administrative costs.
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Seasonality in Results of Operations

We experience seasonality in our results of operations primarily as a result of changes in the level of student enrollments. While

we enroll students throughout the year, second quarter (December to February) average full-time equivalent enrollments

and related revenues generally are lower than other quarters due to the holiday breaks in December and January. Second

quarter costs and expenses historically increase as a percentage of tuition and other net revenues as a result of certain fixed

costs not significantly affected by the seasonal second quarter declines in net revenues.

We experience a seasonal increase in new enrollments in August of each year when most other colleges and universities begin their

fall semesters. As a result, instructional costs and services and selling and promotional expenses historically increase as a percentage

of tuition and other net revenues in the fourth quarter due to increased costs in preparation for the August peak enrollments.

We anticipate that these seasonal trends in the second and fourth quarters will continue in the future.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Net cash provided by operating activities increased to $118.1 million in 2000 from $75.6 million in 1999. The increase resulted

primarily from increased net income, an increase in depreciation and amortization expense, a smaller increase in accounts

receivable, and an increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities. The smaller increase in accounts receivable was 

primarily attributable to increased efficiency of financial aid processing in 2000.

Capital expenditures decreased to $34.8 million in 2000 from $44.7 million in 1999 primarily due to higher expenditures in

1999 related to leasehold improvements, as a result of more new campus openings, and due to more computer lab installations

in 1999 for our expansion of information technology programs. Software development of our financial aid processing system

and our new human resource system also contributed to higher capital expenditures in 1999. Total purchases of property

and equipment for the year ended August 31, 2001, are expected to range from $38.0 to $42.0 million. These expenditures

will primarily be related to new campuses and learning centers, the continued expansion of computer labs designed to 

support the information technology programs, and increases in normal recurring capital expenditures due to the overall

increase in student and employee levels resulting from the growth in the business. 

At August 31, 2000, we had no outstanding borrowings on our $10.0 million line of credit. Borrowings under the line of credit

bear interest at LIBOR plus .75% or prime at our election. At August 31, 2000, availability under the line of credit was reduced

by outstanding letters of credit of $5.9 million. The line of credit is renewable annually, and any amounts borrowed under

the line are payable upon its termination in February 2002.

Our Board of Directors authorized a program allocating up to $150 million of our funds to repurchase shares of Apollo

Education Group Class A common stock. As of August 31, 2000, we had repurchased approximately 4,379,000 shares at a

total cost of approximately $103.2 million. 

We believe that our cash from operations along with our existing cash balances and availability under our line of credit will

be adequate to fund our capital and operating needs for the next 12 to 18 months.

On March 24, 2000, our Board of Directors authorized the issuance of a new class of stock called University of Phoenix

Online common stock, that is intended to reflect the separate performance of University of Phoenix Online, a division 

of University of Phoenix. Our other businesses and our retained interest in University of Phoenix Online are referred to as

“Apollo Education Group.” On October 3, 2000, an offering of 5,750,000 shares of University of Phoenix Online common stock

was completed at a price of $14.00 per share. This stock represented a 10.8% interest in University of Phoenix Online with

Apollo Education Group retaining the remaining 89.2% interest in University of Phoenix Online. 

The U.S. Department of Education requires that Title IV Program funds collected in advance of student billings be kept in a

separate cash or cash equivalent account until the students are billed for that portion of their program. In addition, all Title IV

Program funds received by us through electronic funds transfer are subject to certain holding period restrictions. These

funds generally remain in these separate accounts for an average of 60-75 days from receipt. As of August 31, 2000, we had

approximately $35.7 million in these separate accounts, which are reflected in the Consolidated Balance Sheet as restricted

cash, to comply with these requirements. These restrictions on cash have not affected our ability to fund daily operations.

The Title IV Regulations, as revised, require all higher education institutions to meet a minimum composite score to be

deemed financially responsible by the U.S. Department of Education. If the minimum composite score of 1.0 is not met, an
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institution would fall under alternative standards and may lose its eligibility to participate in Title IV Programs. As of August 31,

2000, University of Phoenix’s and Western International University’s composite scores were 2.6 and 3.0, respectively. These

requirements apply separately to University of Phoenix and Western International University and to each of the respective

Institute for Professional Development client institutions, but not to us on a consolidated basis.

In January 1998, the U.S. Department of Education Office of the Inspector General (“OIG”) began performing an audit of

University of Phoenix’s administration of the Title IV Programs. The team previously presented questions regarding University

of Phoenix’s interpretation of the “12-hour rule,” distance education programs, and institutional refund obligations. University

of Phoenix reached an agreement with the U.S. Department of Education which acknowledges no admission that there were

any issues of non-compliance or errors by University of Phoenix. To bring this audit to closure and settle all outstanding

issues prior to the final OIG report, which was issued on March 31, 2000, University of Phoenix agreed to modify its 

physical campus learning team attendance log to track the sites of learning team meetings and record the hours attended. This

modification is not expected to have a negative impact on either University of Phoenix or its students. This modification

does not require any change to University of Phoenix Online’s learning team attendance log. Part of the agreement, dated

March 27, 2000, reached with the U.S. Department of Education requires University of Phoenix to pay the U.S. Department

of Education $6.0 million as a negotiated settlement in full satisfaction of all monetary findings arising under the final OIG

audit report. This amount was reflected in instructional costs and services in our third quarter 2000 results. $1.5 million of

this amount was paid in 2000 with the remaining $4.5 million due in 2003. 

The OIG is currently auditing the administration of the federal student financial assistance programs in connection with

educational programs provided pursuant to contractual arrangements between Institute for Professional Development and

certain of its client institutions. To date, OIG has not issued any draft reports. Although we believe that the OIG audits will 

be resolved without any material change in Institute for Professional Development’s business strategy, as with any program

review or audit, no assurance can be given as to the final outcome since the matters are not yet resolved. Liability to us, if

any, from the final audit results will be recorded as an expense.

Impact of Inflation

Inflation has not had a significant impact on our historical operations.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Our portfolio of marketable securities includes numerous issuers, varying types of securities, and varying maturities. We

intend to hold these securities to maturity. The fair value of our portfolio of marketable securities would not be significantly

impacted by either a 100 basis point increase or decrease in interest rates due primarily to the short-term nature of the portfolio.

We do not hold or issue derivative financial instruments.
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R E P O R T  O F  I N D E P E N D E N T  A C C O U N T A N T S

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Apollo Group, Inc.:

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheet and the related consolidated statements of operations, of

comprehensive income, of changes in shareholders’ equity and of cash flows present fairly, in all material respects, the financial

position of Apollo Group, Inc. and its subsidiaries at August 31, 2000 and 1999, and the results of their operations and their

cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended August 31, 2000, in conformity with accounting principles generally

accepted in the United States of America. These financial statements are the responsibility of Apollo Group, Inc.’s management;

our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits of

these statements in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which require

that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material

misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial

statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the

overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Phoenix, Arizona 

September 29, 2000
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A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9

(Dollars in thousands)

Assets: 
Current assets 

Cash and cash equivalents $ 59,912 $ 51,534
Restricted cash 35,681 25,798
Marketable securities 58,226 31,064
Receivables, net 78,933 75,664
Deferred tax assets, net 8,267 7,346
Other current assets 5,888 6,807

Total current assets 246,907 198,213
Property and equipment, net 87,833 77,504
Marketable securities 6,020 8,507
Investment in IDL 11,888 10,701
Cost in excess of fair value of assets purchased, net 38,548 39,917
Other assets 13,594 13,500
Total assets $404,790 $348,342

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity: 
Current liabilities 

Current portion of long-term liabilities $ 450 $ 300
Accounts payable 12,960 12,105
Accrued liabilities 22,297 14,340
Income taxes payable 365 535
Student deposits and current portion of deferred revenue 95,017 81,507 

Total current liabilities 131,089 108,787 
Deferred tuition revenue, less current portion 1,295 2,139 
Long-term liabilities, less current portion 9,973 4,222 
Deferred tax liabilities, net 1,225 2,074 
Total liabilities 143,582 117,222
Commitments and contingencies 
Shareholders’ equity
Preferred stock, no par value, 1,000,000 shares authorized; none issued
Class A nonvoting common stock, no par value, 400,000,000 shares authorized; 

74,998,000 and 76,628,000 issued and outstanding at August 31, 2000 
and August 31, 1999, respectively 103 102

Class B voting common stock, no par value, 3,000,000 shares authorized; 
512,000 issued and outstanding at August 31, 2000 and August 31, 1999 1 1

Additional paid-in capital 95,259 99,190
Treasury stock, at cost, 4,378,000 and 1,876,000 shares at August 31, 2000 

and August 31, 1999, respectively (83,353) (46,197)
Retained earnings 249,219 178,028
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (21) (4)
Total shareholders’ equity 261,208 231,120 
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $404,790 $348,342 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Y E A R  E N D E D  A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9 1 9 9 8

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Revenues:
Tuition and other, net $609,997 $498,846 $384,877

Costs and expenses:
Instructional costs and services 352,874 287,582 223,525 
Selling and promotional 96,491 79,143 57,458 
General and administrative 46,555 39,368 33,708 

495,920 406,093 314,691 
Income from operations 114,077 92,753 70,186 
Interest income, net 6,228 5,229 6,086 
Income before income taxes 120,305 97,982 76,272 
Provision for income taxes 49,114 38,977 29,975 
Net income $ 71,191 $ 59,005 $ 46,297 
Basic net income per share $ 0.94 $ 0.76 $ 0.60 
Diluted net income per share $ 0.93 $ 0.75 $ 0.59 
Basic weighted average shares outstanding 75,783 77,683 77,245 
Diluted weighted average shares outstanding 76,629 78,834 79,086 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Y E A R  E N D E D  A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9 1 9 9 8

(In thousands)

Net income $71,191 $59,005 $ 46,297
Other comprehensive income, net of income taxes: 

Currency translation gain (loss) (17) (10) 3
Unrealized gain on security 8
Reclassification adjustment for gains included in net income (8)

Comprehensive income $ 71,174 $ 58,995 $46,300

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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A C C U M U -
C O M M O N  S T O C K L A T E D

C L A S S  A  N O N V O T I N G C L A S S  B  V O T I N G O T H E R T O T A L
A D D I T I O N A L C O M P R E - S H A R E -

S T A T E D S T A T E D P A I D - I N T R E A S U R Y R E T A I N E D H E N S I V E H O L D E R S ’
S H A R E S  V A L U E  S H A R E S  V A L U E  C A P I T A L  S T O C K  E A R N I N G S  I N C O M E  E Q U I T Y  

(In thousands)

Balance at August 31, 1997 50,227 $ 66 548 $1 $ 51,521 $ — $ 72,726 $ 3 $ 124,317 
Stock issued for College 

acquisition 445 15,944 15,944 
Stock issued under stock 

purchase plan 75 2,457 2,457 
Stock issued under stock 

option plans 475 1 3,542 3,543 
Exchange Class A shares for 

Class B shares 36 (36) — 
Tax benefits of stock options 

exercised 7,249 7,249 
3-for-2 stock split 25,854 34 (34) — 
Fractional shares paid out (2) (2)
Other comprehensive income 3 3 
Net income 46,297 46,297 
Balance at August 31, 1998 77,112 101 512 1 80,677 — 119,023 6 199,808 

Stock issued under stock 
purchase plan 159 3,374 3,374 

Stock issued under stock 
option plans 1,233 1 5,456 5,457 

Tax benefits of stock options 
exercised 9,683 9,683 

Treasury stock purchase (1,876) (46,197) (46,197)
Other comprehensive income (10) (10)
Net income 59,005 59,005 
Balance at August 31, 1999 76,628 102 512 1 99,190 (46,197) 178,028 (4) 231,120 

Stock issued under stock 
purchase plan 182 (952) 4,325 3,373 

Stock issued under stock 
option plans 691 1 (8,594) 15,513 6,920 

Tax benefits of stock options 
exercised 5,615 5,615 

Treasury stock purchase (2,503) (56,994) (56,994)
Other comprehensive income (17) (17)
Net income 71,191 71,191 
Balance at August 31, 2000 74,998 $103 512 $1 $95,259 $(83,353) $249,219 $ (21) $261,208 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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C O N S O L I D A T E D  S T A T E M E N T  O F  C A S H  F L O W S

Y E A R  E N D E D  A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9 1 9 9 8

(In thousands)

Cash flows provided by (used for) operating activities:
Net income $ 71,191 $59,005 $46,297
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities: 

Depreciation and amortization 27,368 20,588 12,786 
Provision for uncollectible accounts 7,785 6,906 5,479 
Deferred income taxes (1,770) (505) (2,599)
Tax benefits of stock options exercised 5,615 9,683 7,249 
Decrease (increase) in assets:

Restricted cash (9,883) (3,085) (2,786)
Receivables, net (11,054) (21,288) (29,733)
Other assets 1,540 (5,902) (2,491)

Increase (decrease) in liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 8,642 (5,022) 9,542
Student deposits and deferred revenue 12,666 15,815 12,955 
Other liabilities 6,001 (633) 192

Net cash provided by operating activities 118,101 75,562 56,891 
Cash flows provided by (used for) investing activities:

Net additions to property and equipment (34,830) (44,732) (30,855)
Purchase of marketable securities (63,285) (24,644) (43,277)
Maturities of marketable securities 38,294 29,922 38,556 
Purchase of other assets (2,894) (3,642) (3,685)
Proceeds from sale of land 997 4,212 
Investment in IDL (1,187) 106 (10,807)
Cash paid for acquisition, net of cash acquired (19,378)

Net cash used for investing activities (62,905) (38,778) (69,446)
Cash flows provided by (used for) financing activities:

Purchase of common stock (56,994) (46,197)
Payments on long-term debt (100) (200) (50)
Issuance of common stock 10,293 8,831 6,000 

Net cash provided by (used for) financing activities (46,801) (37,566) 5,950 
Currency translation gain (loss) (17) (10) 3 
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 8,378 (792) (6,602)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 51,534 52,326 58,928 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $59,912 $ 51,534 $52,326

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information
Cash paid during the year for: 

Income taxes $46,635 $30,224 $24,235 
Interest $ 12 $ 48 $ 9 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Note 1. Nature of Operations

Apollo Group, Inc. (“Apollo” or the “Company”), through its wholly-owned subsidiaries, the University of Phoenix, Inc. (“UOP”),

the Institute for Professional Development (“IPD”), the College for Financial Planning Institutes Corporation (the “College”),

and Western International University, Inc. (“WIU”), has been providing higher education to working adults for over 25 years.

UOP is a regionally accredited, private institution of higher education offering associates, bachelors, masters, and doctoral

degree programs in business, management, computer information systems, education, and health care. UOP has 29 physical

campuses and 67 learning centers located in Arizona, California, Colorado, Florida, Hawaii, Louisiana, Maryland, Michigan,

Nevada, New Mexico, Ohio, Oklahoma, Oregon, Pennsylvania, Utah, Washington, Puerto Rico, and Vancouver, British

Columbia. UOP also offers its educational programs worldwide through University of Phoenix Online, its computerized

educational delivery system. UOP is accredited by the Commission on Institutions of Higher Education of the North

Central Association of Colleges and Schools (“NCA”).

IPD provides program development and management services under long-term contracts to 22 regionally accredited private

colleges and universities. IPD currently operates at 22 campuses and 27 learning centers in 22 states. 

The College, located in Denver, Colorado, was acquired in September 1997 and provides financial planning education

programs, as well as a regionally accredited graduate degree program in financial planning.

WIU, which is accredited by NCA, currently offers undergraduate and graduate degree programs in Phoenix, Chandler, and

Fort Huachuca, Arizona.

On March 24, 2000, the Board of Directors of Apollo authorized the issuance of a new class of stock called University 

of Phoenix Online common stock, that is intended to reflect the separate performance of University of Phoenix Online, 

a division of UOP. Apollo’s other businesses and its retained interest in University of Phoenix Online are referred to as 

“Apollo Education Group.” On October 3, 2000, an offering of 5,750,000 shares of University of Phoenix Online common stock

was completed at a price of $14.00 per share. This stock represented a 10.8% interest in that business with Apollo Education

Group retaining the remaining 89.2% interest in University of Phoenix Online.  

The Company’s fiscal year is from September 1 to August 31. Unless otherwise stated, references to the years 2000, 1999, and

1998 relate to the fiscal years ended August 31, 2000, 1999, and 1998, respectively.

Note 2. Significant Accounting Policies 

Principles of consolidation   The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Apollo and its wholly-owned

subsidiaries. All significant intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation.

Cash and cash equivalents   The Company considers all highly liquid investments purchased with an original maturity of

three months or less to be cash equivalents.

Restricted cash   The U.S. Department of Education requires that Title IV Program funds collected in advance of student

billings be kept in a separate cash or cash equivalent account until the students are billed for that portion of their program.

In addition, all Title IV Program funds received by the Company through electronic funds transfer are subject to certain

holding period restrictions. These funds generally remain in these separate accounts for an average of 60-75 days from date

of receipt. Restricted cash is excluded from cash and cash equivalents in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows until the

cash is transferred from these restricted accounts to the Company’s operating accounts. The Company’s restricted cash is

invested primarily in U.S. agency-backed securities and auction market preferred stock with maturities of ninety days or less.

Investments Investments in marketable securities such as municipal bonds and U.S. agency obligations are stated at 

amortized cost, which approximates fair value. It is the Company’s intention to hold its marketable securities until maturity.

Investments in joint ventures and other long-term investments are carried at cost.
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Property and equipment   Property and equipment is recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation. The Company capitalizes

the cost of software used for internal operations once technological feasibility of the software has been demonstrated. Such

costs consist primarily of custom-developed and packaged software and the direct labor costs of internally developed software.

Depreciation is provided on all furniture, equipment, and related software using the straight-line method over the estimated

useful lives of the related assets which range from three to seven years, except software which is depreciated over three to

five years. Leasehold improvements are amortized using the straight-line method over the shorter of the lease term or the

estimated useful lives of the related assets. Maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred.

Revenues, receivables, and related liabilities The Company’s educational programs range in length from one-day seminars

to degree programs lasting up to four years. Students in the Company’s degree programs generally enroll in a program of

study that encompasses a series of five to six week courses that are taken consecutively over the length of the program. Students

are billed on a course-by-course basis when the student first attends a session, resulting in the recording of a receivable from

the student and deferred tuition revenue in the amount of the billing. The related revenue for each course, including that

portion of tuition revenues to which the Company is entitled under the terms of its revenue-sharing contracts with IPD client

institutions, is recognized on a pro rata basis over the period of instruction for each course. Seminars, continuing education

programs, and many of the College’s non-degree programs are usually billed in one installment with the related revenue also

recognized on a pro rata basis over the period of instruction.

Tuition and other revenues are shown net of discounts relating to a variety of promotional programs. Such discounts totaled

$8.7 million, $7.0 million, and $6.7 million in 2000, 1999, and 1998, respectively.

Many of the Company’s students participate in government sponsored financial aid programs under Title IV of the Higher

Education Act of 1965. These financial aid programs generally consist of guaranteed student loans and direct grants to 

students. Guaranteed student loans are issued directly to the student by external financial institutions, to whom the student

is obligated, and are non-recourse to the Company.

Student deposits consist of payments made in advance of billings. As the student is billed, the student deposit is applied

against the resulting student receivable.

Cost in excess of fair value of assets purchased   The Company amortizes cost in excess of fair value of assets purchased on

a straight-line method over the estimated useful life. At August 31, 2000 and 1999, the Company’s cost in excess of fair value 

of assets purchased related primarily to the acquisition of certain assets of the College and WIU, which are being amortized

over 35 years and 15 years, respectively.

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards 121, “Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived

Assets to be Disposed Of,” requires that long-lived assets, including cost in excess of fair value of assets purchased, be

reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of assets may not

be recoverable. The carrying value of cost in excess of fair value of assets purchased is assessed for any permanent impairment

by evaluating the operating performance and future undiscounted cash flows of the underlying businesses. Adjustments 

are made if the sum of the expected future net cash flows is less than book value. As of August 31, 2000, there have been no

impairment adjustments recognized.

Fair value of financial instruments   The carrying amount reported in the Consolidated Balance Sheet for cash and cash

equivalents, restricted cash, marketable securities, accounts receivable, accounts payable, accrued liabilities, and student

deposits and deferred revenue approximate fair value because of the short-term nature of these financial instruments.

Earnings per share   Basic net income per share is computed using the weighted average number of Apollo Education Group

Class A and Class B common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted net income per share is computed using the
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weighted average number of Apollo Education Group Class A and Class B common and common equivalent shares outstanding

during the period. Both basic and diluted weighted average shares have been retroactively restated for stock splits effected in

the form of stock dividends. The amount of any tax benefit to be credited to capital related to the exercise of options is included

when applying the treasury stock method to stock options in the computation of earnings per share.

Beginning in the first quarter of fiscal year 2001, the consolidated financial statements of Apollo Group, Inc. will present

basic and diluted earnings per share for Apollo Education Group common stock and University of Phoenix Online common

stock using the two-class method. The two-class method is an earnings allocation formula that determines the earnings per

share for Apollo Education Group common stock and University of Phoenix Online common stock according to participation

rights in undistributed earnings. 

Basic earnings per share for Apollo Education Group common stock will be calculated by dividing Apollo Education Group

earnings (including its retained interest in University of Phoenix Online earnings) by the weighted average number of 

shares of Apollo Education Group common stock outstanding. Diluted earnings per share will be calculated similarly, except

that it will include the dilutive effect of the assumed exercise of options, including the effects of shares issuable under 

Apollo Group, Inc. incentive plans, exclusive of options granted with respect to University of Phoenix Online common stock.

Basic earnings per share for University of Phoenix Online common stock will be calculated by dividing University of Phoenix

Online earnings (excluding Apollo Education Group’s retained interest in University of Phoenix Online earnings) by the

weighted average number of shares of University of Phoenix Online common stock outstanding. Diluted earnings per share

will be calculated similarly, except that it will include the dilutive effect of the assumed exercise of options with respect to

University of Phoenix Online common stock.

Deferred rental payments and deposits   The Company records rent expense using the straight-line method over the term 

of the lease agreement. Accordingly, deferred rental liabilities are provided for lease agreements that specify scheduled rent

increases over the lease term. Rental deposits are provided for lease agreements that specify payments in advance or 

scheduled rent decreases over the lease term.

Selling and promotional costs   The Company expenses selling and promotional costs as incurred. Selling and promotional

costs include marketing salaries, direct-response and other advertising, promotional materials, and related marketing costs.

Start-up costs   Costs related to the start-up of new campuses and learning centers are expensed as incurred.

Stock-based compensation   The Company has elected to continue to account for its stock-based awards in accordance

with Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” (“APB 25”), and has provided

the pro forma disclosures as required by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based

Compensation” (“SFAS 123”), for the years ended August 31, 2000, 1999, and 1998.

New accounting pronouncements During December 1999, the Securities and Exchange Commission issued Staff

Accounting Bulletin No. 101, “Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements” (“SAB No. 101”), which provides guidance on

the recognition, presentation, and disclosure of revenue in financial statements filed with the Securities and Exchange

Commission. The Company was originally required to implement SAB No. 101 in the first quarter of its fiscal year ending

August 31, 2001; however, in June 2000, the Securities and Exchange Commission amended SAB No. 101 to delay the

required implementation date. As a result, we must now implement the related guidelines in the fourth quarter of our fiscal

year ending August 31, 2001. Although the analysis of the impact of SAB No. 101 has not been completed, it is not expected 

to have a material effect on our results of operations.

Use of estimates   The preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in

the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of

assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amount of revenues and expenses during the

reporting period. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

Reclassifications    Certain amounts reported for the years ended August 31, 1999 and 1998, have been reclassified to conform

to the 2000 presentation, having no effect on net income.
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Note 3. Acquisitions 

In September 1997, the Company acquired the assets and related business operations of the College for Financial Planning

and related divisions that include the Institute for Wealth Management, the Institute for Retirement Planning, the American

Institute for Retirement Planners, Inc., and the Institute for Tax Studies. The adjusted purchase price consisted of $19.4 million

in cash, $15.9 million in stock, and the assumption of approximately $11.4 million in liabilities. The excess of cost over the

value of tangible assets of $40.0 million is being amortized over 35 years.

The acquisition was accounted for under the purchase method and, accordingly, the results of operations related to this new

subsidiary have been included with those of the Company for periods subsequent to the date of the acquisition. Results 

of operations for the College for Financial Planning prior to the acquisition were not material in relation to the Company’s

operations as a whole.

Note 4. Balance Sheet Components

Marketable securities consist of the following, in thousands: 
A U G U S T  3 1 ,  2 0 0 0 A U G U S T  3 1 ,  1 9 9 9

E S T I M A T E D A M O R- E S T I M A T E D A M O R-
M A R K E T T I Z E D M A R K E T T I Z E D

T Y P E V A L U E C O S T V A L U E C O S T

Classified as current:
Municipal bonds $ 35,870 $35,880 $22,507 $22,497 
U.S. treasury obligations 299 298
U.S. agency obligations 18,091 18,098 7,863 7,881 
Auction rate preferred stock 3,950 3,950 
Commercial paper 684 686 

Total current marketable securities 58,210 58,226 31,054 31,064 

Classified as noncurrent: 
Municipal bonds due in 1-2 years 5,528 5,518 8,232 8,259 
U.S. agency obligations 502 502 246 248 

Total noncurrent marketable securities 6,030 6,020 8,478 8,507 
Total marketable securities $64,240 $64,246 $39,532 $39,571 

Receivables consist of the following, in thousands: 

A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9

Trade receivables $84,093 $84,743 
Interest receivable 870 533 
Income tax refunds receivable 1,850 32 

86,813 85,308 
Less allowance for doubtful accounts (7,880) (9,644)

Total receivables, net $78,933 $75,664 

Bad debt expense was $7.8 million, $6.9 million, and $5.5 million for 2000, 1999, and 1998, respectively. Write-offs, net of

recoveries, were $9.5 million, $3.9 million, and $3.4 million for 2000, 1999, and 1998, respectively.

Property and equipment consist of the following, in thousands: 

A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9

Furniture and equipment $101,752 $82,041
Software 23,290 19,394 
Leasehold improvements 25,141 16,549 
Land and buildings 99 350 

150,282 118,334
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (62,449) (40,830)

Property and equipment, net $ 87,833 $ 77,504 

Depreciation and amortization expense was $24.2 million, $16.5 million, and $9.9 million for 2000, 1999, and 1998, respectively.
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Cost in excess of fair value of assets purchased consist of the following, in thousands:

A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9

Cost in excess of fair value of assets purchased $42,831 $42,831 
Less accumulated amortization (4,283) (2,914)

Total cost in excess, net $38,548 $39,917 

Total amortization expense was $1.4 million, $1.5 million, and $1.2 million in 2000, 1999, and 1998, respectively.

Accrued liabilities consist of the following, in thousands: 

A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9

Salaries, wages, and benefits $13,415 $ 9,355 
Other accrued liabilities 8,882 4,985 

Total accrued liabilities $22,297 $14,340 

Student deposits and current portion of deferred revenue consist of the following, in thousands:

A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9

Student deposits $52,003 $ 44,260 
Current portion of deferred tuition revenue 40,420 35,399 
Other deferred revenue 2,594 1,848 

Total student deposits and current portion of deferred revenue $ 95,017 $ 81,507 

Note 5. Investment in IDL

In August 1998, the Company together with Hughes Network Systems and Hermes Onetouch LLC (“Hermes”) formed

Interactive Distance Learning, Inc. (“IDL”), a new corporation, to acquire One Touch Systems, a leading provider of interactive

distance learning solutions. The Company contributed $10.8 million and provided a $1.2 million letter of credit which was

paid in October 1999, in exchange for a 19% interest in the newly formed corporation. This investment is accounted for under

the cost method of accounting. Hermes is wholly-owned by the Company’s Chairman and a Senior Vice President. It was 

not practical to estimate the fair value of the Company’s investment in IDL as IDL is a private company.

Note 6. Short-Term Borrowings 

At August 31, 2000, the Company had no outstanding borrowings on its $10.0 million line of credit. Borrowings under the

line of credit bear interest at LIBOR plus .75% or prime at the Company’s election. At August 31, 2000, availability under the

line of credit was reduced by outstanding letters of credit of $5.9 million. Any amounts borrowed under the line are payable

upon its termination in February 2002. The Company’s line of credit agreement prohibits the Company from paying cash

dividends or making other cash distributions without the lender’s consent.

Note 7. Long-Term Liabilities

Long-term liabilities consist of the following, in thousands: 

A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9

Deferred compensation and note agreements discounted at 7.5% to 12% $ 1,116 $ 1,350 
Deferred rent 3,318 1,900 
Department of Education settlement 4,500
Other long-term liabilities 1,489 1,272 

Total long-term liabilities 10,423 4,522 
Less current portion (450) (300)

Total long-term liabilities, net $ 9,973 $ 4,222 

The undiscounted deferred compensation liability was $1.6 million at August 31, 2000 and 1999. The undiscounted note

payable related to the WIU acquisition was $300,000 and $400,000 at August 31, 2000 and 1999, respectively. The discount

rates for these agreements were determined at the date of each respective agreement based on the estimated long-term rate

of return on high-quality fixed income investments with cash flows similar to the respective agreements.

The aggregate maturities of the long-term liabilities for each of the five fiscal years subsequent to August 31, 2000, are as follows:

2001–$450; 2002–$568; 2003–$5,066; 2004–$597; 2005–$691.
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Note 8. Income Taxes

The related components of the income tax provision are as follows, in thousands:

Y E A R  E N D E D  A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9 1 9 9 8

Current: 
Federal $ 42,312 $32,304 $26,546
State and other 8,572 7,178 6,028 

Total current 50,884 39,482 32,574 
Deferred:

Federal (1,537) (361) (2,004)
State and other (233) (144) (595)

Total deferred (1,770) (505) (2,599)
Total provision for income taxes $ 49,114 $ 38,977 $ 29,975

The income tax provision differs from the tax that would result from application of the statutory U.S. federal income tax rate

as follows:

Y E A R  E N D E D  A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9 1 9 9 8

Statutory U.S. federal income tax rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
State income taxes, net of federal benefit 5.5 5.2 5.1 
Other, net 0.3 (0.4) (0.8)

Effective income tax rate 40.8% 39.8% 39.3%

Deferred tax assets and liabilities consist of the following, in thousands:

A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9

Gross deferred tax assets:
Allowance for doubtful accounts $4,038 $4,502 
Deferred tuition revenue 2,068 1,299 
Department of Education settlement 1,924 
Other 3,477 3,124 

Total gross deferred tax assets 11,507 8,925 
Gross deferred tax liabilities: 
Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment 2,312 2,286 
Amortization of cost in excess of fair value of assets purchased 1,900 1,289 
Other 253 78 

Total gross deferred tax liabilities 4,465 3,653 
Net deferred tax assets $7,042 $ 5,272 

Net deferred tax assets are reflected in the accompanying balance sheet as follows, in thousands:

A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9

Current deferred tax assets, net $ 8,267 $ 7,346 
Noncurrent deferred tax liabilities, net (1,225) (2,074)

Net deferred tax assets $7,042 $ 5,272

In light of the Company’s history of profitable operations, management has concluded that it is more likely than not that the

Company will ultimately realize the full benefit of its deferred tax assets related to future deductible items. Accordingly, the

Company believes that a valuation allowance is not required for its net deferred tax assets.

Note 9. Common Stock

The Company’s Board of Directors authorized a program allocating up to $150 million in Company funds to repurchase shares

of Apollo Education Group Class A common stock. As of August 31, 2000, the Company had repurchased approximately

4,379,000 shares at a total cost of approximately $103.2 million.
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Note 10. Earnings Per Share

A reconciliation of the basic and diluted per share computations for 2000, 1999, and 1998 are as follows:

2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9 1 9 9 8

W E I G H T E D P E R W E I G H T E D P E R W E I G H T E D P E R
A V E R A G E S H A R E A V E R A G E S H A R E A V E R A G E S H A R E

F O R  T H E  Y E A R  E N D E D  A U G U S T  3 1 , I N C O M E  S H A R E S A M O U N T I N C O M E S H A R E S A M O U N T I N C O M E S H A R E S A M O U N T

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Basic net income per share $71,191 75,783 $ 0.94 $59,005 77,683 $ 0.76 $46,297 77,245 $ 0.60 
Effect of dilutive securities: 

Stock options 846 1,151 1,841 
Diluted net income per share $71,191 76,629 $ 0.93 $59,005 78,834 $ 0.75 $46,297 79,086 $ 0.59

Note 11. Segment Information

The Company’s operations are aggregated into a single reportable segment based upon their similar economic and operating

characteristics. The Company’s educational operations are conducted in similar markets and produce similar economic

results. These operations provide higher education programs for working adults. The Company’s operations are also subject

to a similar regulatory environment, which includes licensing and accreditation.

Note 12. Employee and Director Benefit Plans

The Company provides various health, welfare, and disability benefits to its full-time, salaried employees which are funded

primarily by Company contributions. The Company does not provide post-employment or post-retirement health care and

life insurance benefits to its employees.

401(k) Plan   The Company sponsors a 401(k) plan which is available to all employees who have completed one year and at

least 1,000 hours of continuous service. The Company matches 100% of the contributions from the first $10,000 of a participant’s

annual pre-tax earnings. Contributions from the participant’s earnings in excess of $10,000 are matched by the Company at

18.5%. Participant contributions are subject to certain restrictions as set forth in the Internal Revenue Code. The Company’s

matching contributions totaled $2.3 million, $2.2 million, and $1.8 million for 2000, 1999, and 1998, respectively.

Stock-Based Compensation Plans   The Company has four stock-based compensation plans: the Apollo Group, Inc., Amended

and Restated Director Stock Plan (“Director Stock Plan”), the Apollo Group, Inc., Long-Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”), the Apollo

Group, Inc., 2000 Incentive Plan (“2000 Incentive Plan”), and the Apollo Group, Inc., Amended and Restated 1994 Employee

Stock Purchase Plan (“Purchase Plan”). 

The Director Stock Plan currently provides for an annual grant to the Company’s non-employee directors of options to 

purchase shares of the Company’s Apollo Education Group Class A common stock on September 1 of each year through

2003. Under the LTIP, the Company may grant options, incentive stock options, stock appreciation rights, and other 

stock-based awards in the Company’s Apollo Education Group Class A common stock to certain officers, key employees,

or directors of the Company. Many of the options granted under the LTIP vest 25% per year starting at the end of the year

2002. The vesting may be accelerated for individual employees if the stock price reaches defined goals for at least three

trading days, and if certain profit goals, defined for groups of individuals, are also achieved. Under the 2000 Incentive Plan,

the Company may grant options, incentive stock options, stock appreciation rights, and other stock-based awards in the

Company’s Apollo Education Group Class A common stock and shares of the Company’s University of Phoenix Online common

stock to certain officers, key employees, or directors of the Company. The Purchase Plan allows employees of the Company

to purchase shares of the Company’s Apollo Education Group Class A common stock and University of Phoenix Online 

common stock at quarterly intervals through periodic payroll deductions. The purchase price per share, in general, is 85% 

of the lower of 1) the fair market value (as defined in the Purchase Plan) on the enrollment date into the respective quarterly

offering period or 2) the fair market value on the purchase date.

33



The Company applies APB 25 and related interpretations in accounting for its stock-based compensation, and has adopted

the disclosure-only provisions of SFAS 123. Accordingly, no compensation cost has been recognized for these plans. Had

compensation cost for the plans been determined based on the fair value at the grant date consistent with SFAS 123, the

Company’s net income, income per share, and weighted average shares outstanding would have been as follows, in thousands,

except per share amounts:

Y E A R  E N D E D  A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9 1 9 9 8

Pro forma: 
Net income $66,484 $ 55,395 $ 43,986 
Diluted income per share $ 0.88 $ 0.71 $ 0.55 
Diluted weighted average shares outstanding 75,783 77,634 79,889 

As reported: 
Net income $ 71,191 $59,005 $ 46,297 
Diluted income per share $ 0.93 $ 0.75 $ 0.59 
Diluted weighted average shares outstanding 76,629 78,834 79,086 

The effects of applying SFAS 123 in the above pro forma disclosures are not necessarily indicative of future amounts. 

The fair value of each option grant is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes method with the following

weighted-average assumptions for grants in 2000, 1999, and 1998, respectively: (1) dividend yield of 0.00% in all years; 

(2) expected volatility of 74.0%, 73.0%, and 40.0%; (3) risk-free interest rates of 6.5%, 4.5%, and 5.9%, and (4) expected 

lives of 5.0, 7.5, and 5.4 years.

A summary of the activity related to stock options to purchase Apollo Education Group Class A common stock granted

under the Director Stock Plan, the LTIP, and the 2000 Incentive Plan is as follows, in thousands, except per share amounts:

W E I G H T E D
A V E R A G E
E X E R C I S E

P R I C E
S H A R E S P E R  S H A R E

Outstanding at August 31, 1997 4,247 $ 6.453 
Granted 370 26.101 
Exercised (694) 5.100 
Canceled (42) 13.650 
Outstanding at August 31, 1998 3,881 8.492 
Granted 1,171 25.981 
Exercised (1,233) 4.426 
Canceled (384) 10.324 
Outstanding at August 31, 1999 3,435 15.709 
Granted 957 20.865 
Exercised (686) 9.913 
Canceled (143) 23.858 
Outstanding at August 31, 2000 3,563 17.857 
Exercisable at August 31, 2000 1,802 
Available for issuance at August 31, 2000 5,677 

Stock options to purchase University of Phoenix Online common stock have not been granted under the Director Stock Plan

or the 2000 Incentive Plan as of August 31, 2000. At August 31, 2000, there were options on 9,100,000 shares of University of

Phoenix Online common stock available for issuance.
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The following table summarizes information about the stock options to purchase Apollo Education Group Class A common

stock at August 31, 2000:
O P T I O N S  O U T S T A N D I N G O P T I O N S  E X E R C I S A B L E

W E I G H T E D W E I G H T E D
A V E R A G E A V E R A G E

C O N T R A C T U A L E X E R C I S E E X E R C I S E
N U M B E R Y E A R S P R I C E N U M B E R P R I C E

R A N G E  O F  E X E R C I S E  P R I C E S O U T S T A N D I N G R E M A I N I N G P E R  S H A R E E X E R C I S A B L E P E R  S H A R E

(In thousands) (In thousands)

$1.630 to $5.975 96 4.50 $ 3.011 96 $ 3.011 
$7.532 to $7.532 1,133 5.06 $ 7.532 921 $ 7.532 
$17.000 to $23.792 974 8.58 $19.268 451 $ 19.592 
$25.625 to $39.734 1,360 8.02 $26.488 334 $ 27.837  — — — — — — — — — — — — —  — — — — — — — — — — — — —
$1.630 to $39.734 3,563 7.14 $17.857 1,802 $ 14.079 — — — — — — — — — — — — —  — — — — — — — — — — — — —

Note 13. Commitments and Contingencies

The Company is obligated under facility and equipment leases that are classified as operating leases. Following is a schedule

of future minimum lease commitments as of August 31, 2000, in thousands:
E Q U I P M E N T

O P E R A T I N G  L E A S E S F A C I L I T I E S &  O T H E R

2001 $ 53,368 $ 1,663
2002 53,827 488
2003 52,064 30
2004 42,411
2005 36,548
Thereafter 64,315

$ 302,533 $ 2,181

Facility and equipment rent expense totaled $58.8 million, $44.8 million, and $32.1 million for 2000, 1999, and 1998, respectively.

In January 1998, the U.S. Department of Education Office of the Inspector General (“OIG”) began performing an audit of

University of Phoenix’s administration of the Title IV Programs. The team previously presented questions regarding our 

interpretation of the “12-hour rule,” distance education programs, and institutional refund obligations. We reached an

agreement with the U.S. Department of Education. The agreement acknowledges no admission that there were any issues

of non-compliance or errors by us. To bring this audit to closure and settle all outstanding issues prior to the final OIG

audit report, which was issued on March 31, 2000, we agreed to modify University of Phoenix’s learning team attendance log

to track the sites of learning team meetings and record the hours attended. We do not expect this modification to have a

negative impact on either University of Phoenix or its students. Part of the agreement, dated March 27, 2000, reached

with the U.S. Department of Education requires that we pay the U.S. Department of Education $6.0 million as a negotiated

settlement in full satisfaction of all monetary findings arising under the final OIG audit report. This amount was reflected 

in instructional costs and services in our third quarter 2000 results. $1.5 million of this amount was paid in 2000 with the

remaining $4.5 million due in 2003. 

The OIG is currently auditing the administration of the federal student financial assistance programs in connection with

educational programs provided pursuant to contractual arrangements between IPD and certain of its client institutions. To

date, OIG has not issued any draft reports. Although the Company believes that the OIG audits will be resolved without any

material change in IPD’s business strategy, as with any program review or audit, no assurance can be given as to the final

outcome since the matters are not yet resolved. Liability to the Company, if any,  from the final audit results will be 

recorded as an expense.

The Company is involved in various legal proceedings occurring in the normal course of business. The Company 

believes that the disposition of these cases will not have a material adverse impact on the financial position or results of

operations of the Company.
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Y E A R  E N D E D  A U G U S T  3 1 ,  2 0 0 0

A P O L L O U N I V E R S I T Y
E D U C A T I O N O F  P H O E N I X A P O L L O

G R O U P O N L I N E E L I M I N A T I O N S G R O U P ,  I N C .

(In thousands) 

Revenues:
Tuition and other, net(1) $507,384 $ 102,613 $ — $ 609,997
Inter-group license fee revenue(2) 4,104 (4,104) —

511,488 102,613 (4,104) 609,997 
Costs and expenses: 
Instructional costs and services 

External expenses(3) 316,429 36,445 352,874
Inter-group allocated expenses(4) (9,265) 9,265 —
Inter-group license fee expense(2) 4,104 (4,104) —

Selling and promotional 
External expenses(3) 80,995 15,496 96,491 
Inter-group allocated expenses(4) (772) 772 —

General and administrative 
External expenses(3) 46,555 46,555 
Inter-group allocated expenses(4) (7,248) 7,248 —

426,694 73,330 (4,104) 495,920
Income from operations 84,794 29,283 114,077 
Interest income, net 6,228 6,228 
Income before income taxes 91,022 29,283 120,305 
Provision for income taxes(5) 37,313 11,801 49,114 
Net income $ 53,709 $ 17,482 $ — $ 71,191

Note 14. Consolidating Statement of Operations Data

The following schedules present statement of operations data of Apollo Education Group, University of Phoenix Online, 

and Apollo Group, Inc. We have presented this information to illustrate the respective operating results of Apollo Education

Group and University of Phoenix Online, including the impact of the inter-group license fee and inter-group allocated

expenses, and how the operating results of those groups relate to the consolidated operating results of Apollo Group, Inc.

The information presented below for Apollo Education Group excludes its retained interest in University of Phoenix Online,

which was 100% for the periods presented. This retained interest will decline to reflect issuances of University of Phoenix

Online common stock and may be further adjusted to reflect other events.

Since its inception, the Company has financed University of Phoenix Online’s operations internally and has not incurred any

related third-party debt. University of Phoenix Online does not maintain a bank account; rather all of its cash receipts and

disbursements are processed by the Company on University of Phoenix Online’s behalf. Currently, all amounts are settled

(1) Tuition and other revenues are shown net of discounts from a variety of promotional programs and represent amounts earned from students of Apollo
Education Group and University of Phoenix Online, respectively. There are no tuition or other revenues that have been allocated between Apollo Education Group
and University of Phoenix Online.

(2) Apollo Group, Inc. charges University of Phoenix Online a license fee equal to 4% of University of Phoenix Online’s net revenues for the use of curriculum, 
trademarks, and copyrights owned by Apollo Group, Inc. and its subsidiaries. The license fee, which is included in University of Phoenix Online’s instructional costs
and services, totaled $4.1 million, $2.8 million, and $1.8 million for the years ended August 31, 2000, 1999, and 1998, respectively. The inter-group license fee revenue
of Apollo Education Group eliminates against the inter-group license fee expense of University of Phoenix Online in consolidation at the Apollo Group, Inc. level.

The related license policy was not in place prior to March 24, 2000; however, in order to prepare financial statements that include the charges and benefits of the
types provided for under this policy, the accompanying consolidating statement of operations data reflect charges and benefits that would have applied if this policy
had been in effect during the periods presented. Although it has no present intention to do so, Apollo Group, Inc.’s Board of Directors may at any time in its sole 
discretion modify, rescind, or supplement this policy.

(3) External expenses represent costs incurred directly by Apollo Education Group and University of Phoenix Online and do not include any inter-group allocations.
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Y E A R  E N D E D  A U G U S T  3 1 ,  1 9 9 9 Y E A R  E N D E D  A U G U S T  3 1 ,  1 9 9 8

A P O L L O U N I V E R S I T Y A P O L L O U N I V E R S I T Y
E D U C A T I O N O F  P H O E N I X A P O L L O E D U C A T I O N O F  P H O E N I X A P O L L O

G R O U P O N L I N E E L I M I N A T I O N S G R O U P ,  I N C . G R O U P O N L I N E E L I M I N A T I O N S G R O U P ,  I N C .

$429,264 $69,582 $ — $498,846 $339,796 $ 45,081 $ — $ 384,877 
2,783 (2,783) — 1,803 (1,803) —

432,047 69,582 (2,783) 498,846 341,599 45,081 (1,803) 384,877 

255,778 31,804 287,582 203,108 20,417 223,525
(4,995) 4,995 — (3,223) 3,223 —

2,783 (2,783) — 1,803 (1,803) —

67,828 11,315 79,143 49,707 7,751 57,458
(201) 201 — (166) 166 —

39,368 39,368 33,708 33,708 
(5,352) 5,352 — (3,960) 3,960 —

352,426 56,450 (2,783) 406,093 279,174 37,320 (1,803) 314,691 
79,621 13,132 92,753 62,425 7,761 70,186 
5,229 5,229 6,086 6,086 

84,850 13,132 97,982 68,511 7,761 76,272 
33,654 5,323 38,977 26,824 3,151 29,975 

$ 51,196 $ 7,809 $ — $ 59,005 $ 41,687 $ 4,610 $ — $ 46,297 

through the funds allocated to/from Apollo Education Group component of University of Phoenix Online’s divisional net

worth. Whenever University of Phoenix Online generates cash from operations, that cash is deemed to be transferred to

Apollo Education Group and is accounted for as a return of capital. Whenever University of Phoenix Online has a cash need,

that cash is deemed to be transferred from Apollo Education Group and is accounted for as a capital contribution. As a

result of this policy, the accompanying consolidating statement of operations data do not reflect any inter-group interest

income or expense. 

The difference between the net proceeds of the University of Phoenix Online common stock offering and outlays attributable

to University of Phoenix Online following the offering has been accounted for as a revolving credit allowance from University

of Phoenix Online to Apollo Education Group requiring the reflection of interest expense by Apollo Education Group and

interest income by University of Phoenix Online at the rate of interest determined by the Board of Directors. Any other cash

transfers accounted for as revolving credit advances will not bear interest unless the Board of Directors determines otherwise.

As a result of this change in policy, the consolidating statement of operations data for periods subsequent to the offering

may reflect inter-group interest income and expense. Accordingly, operating results for Apollo Education Group and University

of Phoenix Online for periods subsequent to this offering may not be comparable to such operating results prior to this offering.

(4) Certain costs incurred by Apollo Group, Inc. and the University of Phoenix, Inc. including legal, accounting, corporate office and centralized student services
costs, have been allocated to University of Phoenix Online on the basis of its revenues in relation to those of Apollo Group, Inc. and the University of Phoenix, Inc.
The allocation of such expenses to University of Phoenix Online was as follows:

Y E A R  E N D E D  A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9 1 9 9 8

Instructional costs and services $ 9,265 $ 4,995 $3,223 
Selling and promotional 772 201 166 
General and administrative 7,248 5,352 3,960 

$17,285 $10,548 $ 7,349 

The related corporate expense allocation policy was not in place prior to March 24, 2000; however, in order to prepare financial statements that include the charges
and benefits of the types provided for under this policy, the accompanying consolidating statement of operations data reflect charges and benefits that would have
applied if this policy had been in effect during the periods presented. Although it has no present intention to do so, Apollo Group, Inc.’s Board of Directors may at 
any time in its sole discretion modify, rescind, or supplement this policy.

(5) University of Phoenix Online’s results, along with other divisions of the University of Phoenix, Inc., are included in the Apollo Group, Inc. consolidated federal
income tax return. State taxes are paid based upon apportioned taxable income or loss of Apollo Group, Inc., with the exception of certain state taxes that are based
upon an apportionment of University of Phoenix taxable income or loss. The provision for income taxes included in the accompanying consolidating statement of
operations data has been calculated on a separate company basis.
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Note 15. Quarterly Results of Operations (Unaudited)

The following table sets forth selected unaudited quarterly financial information for each of the Company’s last eight quarters. 

2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9

A U G . 3 1 , M A Y  3 1 , F E B . 2 9 , N O V . 3 0 , A U G . 3 1 , M A Y  3 1 , F E B . 2 8 , N O V . 3 0 ,
2 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9 1 9 9 9 1 9 9 9 1 9 9 9 1 9 9 8

(In thousands, except per share amounts) 

Revenues: 
Tuition and other, net $165,008 $ 167,591 $133,980 $143,418 $135,685 $ 138,107 $109,356 $115,698 

Costs and expenses: 
Instructional costs and 

services(1) 90,792 97,499 81,849 82,734 78,271 77,332 65,298 66,681 
Selling and promotional 27,944 23,695 22,293 22,559 20,585 20,465 19,253 18,840 
General and administrative 12,403 11,828 10,828 11,496 11,150 9,922 9,092 9,204 

131,139 133,022 114,970 116,789 110,006 107,719 93,643 94,725 
Income from operations 33,869 34,569 19,010 26,629 25,679 30,388 15,713 20,973 
Interest income, net 2,042 1,590 1,279 1,317 1,290 1,352 1,275 1,312 
Income before income taxes 35,911 36,159 20,289 27,946 26,969 31,740 16,988 22,285 
Provision for income taxes 14,603 15,016 8,376 11,119 10,617 12,780 6,833 8,747 
Net income $ 21,308 $ 21,143 $ 11,913 $ 16,827 $ 16,352 $ 18,960 $ 10,155 $ 13,538
Diluted net income per share $ 0.28 $ 0.28 $ 0.16 $ 0.22 $ 0.21 $ 0.24 $ 0.13 $ 0.17 
Diluted weighted average 

shares outstanding 76,418 76,126 76,478 77,495 78,068 78,914 79,195 79,159 

(1) Includes the $6.0 million charge (3.6% of tuition and other net revenues) related to the U.S. Department of Education agreement in the May 31, 2000 quarter.
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U N I V E R S I T Y  O F  P H O E N I X  O N L I N E  G R O W T H

University of Phoenix Online began operations in 1989 by modifying courses developed by University of Phoenix’s

physical campuses for delivery via modem to students worldwide. Today, University of Phoenix Online’s courses and

programs are available via the Internet 24 hours a day, 7 days a week and can be accessed using basic technology,

such as a Pentium-class personal computer, a 28.8K modem, and an Internet service provider.
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S E L E C T E D  F I N A N C I A L  I N F O R M A T I O N  O F  U N I V E R S I T Y  O F  P H O E N I X  O N L I N E

The following selected financial and operating data are qualified by reference to and should be read in conjunction with 

the financial statements of University of Phoenix Online and the related notes, and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis

of Financial Condition and Results of Operations of University of Phoenix Online.” The statement of operations data for 

the years ended August 31, 2000, 1999, and 1998 and the balance sheet data as of August 31, 2000 and 1999 are derived from

University of Phoenix Online’s audited financial statements.

Y E A R  E N D E D  A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9 1 9 9 8 1 9 9 7

(In thousands)

Statement of Operations Data: 
Revenues: 

Tuition and other, net $102,613 $69,582 $45,081 $28,550 
Costs and expenses: 

Instructional costs and services 49,814 39,582 25,443 17,679 
Selling and promotional 16,268 11,516 7,917 6,102 
General and administrative 7,248 5,352 3,960 2,149 

73,330 56,450 37,320 25,930 
Income from operations 29,283 13,132 7,761 2,620 
Provision for income taxes 11,801 5,323 3,151 1,078 
Net income $ 17,482 $ 7,809 $ 4,610 $ 1,542 

A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9 1 9 9 8

(In thousands)

Balance Sheet Data: 
Total assets $ 21,962 $14,871 $ 8,516 
Current liabilities $ 15,991 $11,789 $ 9,613 
Long-term liabilities 123 — 42 
Divisional net worth 5,848 3,082 (1,139)
Total liabilities and divisional net worth $21,962 $14,871 $ 8,516 
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M A N A G E M E N T’S  D I S C U S S I O N  A N D  A N A L Y S I S  O F  F I N A N C I A L  C O N D I T I O N  
A N D  R E S U L T S  O F  O P E R A T I O N S  O F  U N I V E R S I T Y  O F  P H O E N I X  O N L I N E

As mentioned under “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations of Apollo

Group, Inc.,” the following Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations of

University of Phoenix Online contains forward-looking statements relating to future plans, expectations, events, or performance

that involve risks and uncertainties. Actual results of operations could differ materially from those anticipated in these 

forward-looking statements as a result of various factors. 

Background and Overview

University of Phoenix Online is a provider of accessible, accredited educational programs for working adults. It began operations

in 1989 by modifying courses developed by University of Phoenix’s physical campuses for delivery via modem to students

worldwide. Today, students can log on to their online classes via the Internet 24 hours a day, 7 days a week wherever there is

Internet accessibility using basic technology such as a Pentium-class personal computer, a 28.8K modem, and an Internet

service provider, thereby enhancing the accessibility of and the potential market for its programs. University of Phoenix Online

currently offers 10 accredited degree programs in business, education, information technology, and nursing. As of August 31,

2000, University of Phoenix Online had approximately 16,000 degree students and approximately 1,300 faculty members.

In order to track the economic performance of University of Phoenix Online, we have separated University of Phoenix Online,

our online division, from Apollo Education Group, which includes the rest of our businesses. University of Phoenix Online

common stock is intended to track the economic performance of University of Phoenix Online.

University of Phoenix Online has relied upon us to finance its operations since inception. Therefore, University of Phoenix

Online’s financial position, results of operations, and cash flows to date are not necessarily indicative of the financial position,

results of operations, and cash flows that would have resulted had University of Phoenix Online been operating as an 

independent company.

The provision of services and other matters between University of Phoenix Online and Apollo Education Group, including

the right to use our curriculum, trademarks, and copyrights, will be governed by corporate expense, license, and income tax

allocation policies, which are described below. These arrangements were not in place prior to March 24, 2000. However, in

order to prepare financial statements that include charges and benefits of the types provided for under these arrangements,

the financial statements for University of Phoenix Online reflect charges and benefits that would have applied if these 

inter-group arrangements had been in effect during the periods presented.

Although we have no present intention to do so, our Board of Directors may rescind, modify, or add to any of these policies.

While management believes that these allocation methods are reasonable, the allocated expenses are not necessarily 

indicative of, and it is not practicable for us to estimate, the levels of expenses that would have been incurred if University 

of Phoenix Online had been operating as an independent company.

Corporate expenses   In order to prepare the financial statements for University of Phoenix Online, certain costs incurred 

by us and University of Phoenix, including legal, accounting, corporate office and centralized student services costs, were

allocated to University of Phoenix Online on the basis of its revenues in relation to those of us and University of Phoenix.

Management believes the allocation methodology is fair to each group because allocations based on revenue will not inflate

or dilute the operating margin of one group in favor of the other. The allocation of such expenses to University of Phoenix

Online was as follows, in thousands:

Y E A R  E N D E D  A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9 1 9 9 8

Instructional costs and services $ 9,265 $ 4,995 $3,223 
Selling and promotional 772 201 166 
General and administrative 7,248 5,352 3,960 

$17,285 $10,548 $ 7,349 

License fee   We charge University of Phoenix Online a license fee equal to 4% of University of Phoenix Online’s net revenues

for the use of our curriculum, trademarks, and copyrights. The license fee, which is included in instructional costs and services

in University of Phoenix Online’s statement of operations, was $4.1 million, $2.8 million, and $1.8 million for the years ended

August 31, 2000, 1999, and 1998, respectively.
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Income taxes   University of Phoenix Online’s results, along with those of University of Phoenix’s other divisions, are included

in our consolidated federal income tax return. State taxes are paid based upon our apportioned taxable income or loss, with

the exception of certain state taxes that are based upon an apportionment of University of Phoenix taxable income or loss.

The provision for income taxes included in University of Phoenix Online’s statement of operations has been calculated on a

separate company basis. The related current and deferred tax assets and liabilities are settled with University of Phoenix at

the end of each period through the divisional net worth account.

University of Phoenix Online’s effective income tax rate differs from the federal statutory tax rate primarily as a result 

of state income taxes.

We intend, for so long as University of Phoenix Online common stock remains outstanding, to include in our filings under

the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, financial statements of University of Phoenix Online, and “Management’s Discussion

and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations of University of Phoenix Online,” as of the same dates and for

the same periods as our consolidated financial statements. These financial statements will be prepared in accordance with

accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and in the case of annual financial statements, 

will be audited. These financial statements are not legally required under current law or Securities and Exchange

Commission regulations.

Tuition and other revenues are shown net of discounts. University of Phoenix Online’s educational degree programs last up

to four years. Students in degree programs enroll in a program of study that encompasses a series of five to six week courses

that are taken consecutively over the length of the program. Students are billed on a course-by-course basis when the student

first attends a session, resulting in the recording of a receivable from the student and deferred tuition revenue in the amount

of the billing. The revenue for each course is recognized on a pro rata basis over the period of instruction.

Instructional costs and services consist primarily of costs related to the delivery and administration of educational programs

and includes a license fee equal to 4% of University of Phoenix Online’s net revenues for the use of our curriculum, trademarks,

and copyrights. Instructional costs and services include expenses directly attributable to University of Phoenix Online’s

operations, such as faculty compensation, administrative salaries, facility leases and other occupancy costs, bad debt expense,

and depreciation and amortization of property and equipment, and an allocation of expenses relating to centralized 

departments that provide services directly to University of Phoenix Online’s students. We expect University of Phoenix

Online’s instructional costs and services to increase as a result of increased student enrollments.

Selling and promotional costs consist primarily of compensation for enrollment advisors, advertising costs, production of

marketing materials, and other costs related to selling and promotional functions, and an allocation of expenses relating to

Apollo Education Group’s centralized marketing functions. University of Phoenix Online expects selling and promotional

costs, both in absolute dollars and as a percentage of tuition and other net revenues, to increase significantly as it expands 

its marketing efforts to increase enrollments and brand awareness.

General and administrative costs consist of the allocation of administrative salaries, occupancy costs, depreciation and

amortization, and other related costs for departments such as executive management, information systems, corporate accounting,

human resources, and other departments that do not provide direct services to University of Phoenix Online students.

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth the statement of operations data of University of Phoenix Online, expressed as a percentage of

tuition and other net revenues for the periods indicated:

Y E A R  E N D E D  A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9 1 9 9 8

Revenues: 
Tuition and other, net 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Costs and expenses:
Instructional costs and services 48.5 56.9 56.4 
Selling and promotional 15.9 16.5 17.6 
General and administrative 7.1 7.7 8.8 

71.5 81.1 82.8 
Income from operations 28.5 18.9 17.2 
Less provision for income taxes 11.5 7.7 7.0 
Net income 17.0% 11.2% 10.2%
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Year Ended August 31, 2000, Compared with the Year Ended August 31, 1999

Tuition and other net revenues increased by 47.5% to $102.6 million in 2000 from $69.6 million in 1999 due primarily to an

increase in average full-time equivalent degree student enrollments. Average full-time equivalent degree student enrollments

increased to approximately 9,500 in 2000 from approximately 7,000 in 1999.

Instructional costs and services increased by 25.9% to $49.8 million in 2000 from $39.6 million in 1999 due primarily to the

direct costs necessary to support the increase in degree student enrollments and University of Phoenix Online’s allocation of

$1.1 million of the $6.0 million charge related to the U.S. Department of Education agreement. Direct costs consist primarily

of faculty compensation and related staff salaries. These costs as a percentage of tuition and other net revenues decreased to

48.5% in 2000 from 56.9% in 1999 due primarily to greater net revenues being spread over the fixed costs related to centralized

student services offset in part by the University of Phoenix Online’s allocation of $1.1 million of the $6.0 million charge related

to the U.S. Department of Education agreement. As University of Phoenix Online expands, it may not be able to leverage its

existing instructional costs and services to the same extent.

Selling and promotional expenses increased by 41.3% to $16.3 million in 2000 from $11.5 million in 1999 due primarily to 

an increase in enrollment advisors and additional advertising and marketing. These expenses as a percentage of tuition and

other net revenues decreased to 15.9% in 2000 from 16.5% in 1999 due primarily to greater net revenues being spread over 

a proportionately lower increase in selling and promotional expenses.

General and administrative expenses increased by 35.4% to $7.2 million in 2000 from $5.4 million in 1999 due primarily 

to a higher revenue growth rate at University of Phoenix Online in that period compared to Apollo Education Group 

which resulted in a higher allocation of general and administrative expenses to University of Phoenix Online. General and 

administrative expenses as a percentage of tuition and other net revenues decreased to 7.1% in 2000 from 7.7% in 1999 

due primarily to greater net revenues being spread over a proportionately lower increase in general and administrative expenses.

The effective tax rate decreased to 40.3% in 2000 from 40.5% in 1999.

Net income increased to $17.5 million in 2000 from $7.8 million in 1999, due primarily to increased enrollments and

improved utilization of instructional costs and services, selling and promotional, and general and administrative expenses.
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Year Ended August 31, 1999, Compared with the Year Ended August 31, 1998

Tuition and other net revenues increased by 54.3% to $69.6 million in 1999 from $45.1 million in 1998 due primarily to an

increase in average full-time equivalent degree student enrollments. Average full-time equivalent degree student enrollments

increased to approximately 7,000 in 1999 from approximately 4,800 in 1998.

Instructional costs and services increased by 55.6% to $39.6 million in 1999 from $25.4 million in 1998 due primarily to the

direct costs necessary to support the increase in degree student enrollments. These costs as a percentage of tuition and other

net revenues increased to 56.9% in 1999 from 56.4% in 1998 due primarily to increased costs in anticipation of increases in

degree student enrollments.

Selling and promotional expenses increased by 45.5% to $11.5 million in 1999 from $7.9 million in 1998 due primarily to 

an increase in enrollment advisors and additional advertising and marketing. These expenses as a percentage of tuition and

other net revenues decreased to 16.5% in 1999 from 17.6% in 1998 due primarily to greater net revenues being spread over 

a proportionately lower increase in selling and promotional expenses.

General and administrative expenses increased by 35.2% to $5.4 million in 1999 from $4.0 million in 1998 due primarily 

to a higher revenue growth rate at University of Phoenix Online in that period compared to Apollo Education Group which

resulted in a higher allocation of general and administrative expenses to University of Phoenix Online. General and 

administrative expenses as a percentage of tuition and other net revenues decreased to 7.7% in 1999 from 8.8% in 1998 due

primarily to greater net revenues being spread over a proportionately lower increase in general and administrative expenses.

The effective tax rate decreased to 40.5% in 1999 from 40.6% in 1998.

Net income increased to $7.8 million in 1999 from $4.6 million in 1998.

Quarterly Fluctuations in Results of Operations

University of Phoenix Online may experience seasonality in its results of operations primarily as a result of changes in the

level of student enrollments. While students are enrolled throughout the year, average enrollments and related revenues may

be lower in some quarters than others. Most expenses do not vary directly with revenues and are difficult to adjust in the

short term. As a result, if revenues for a particular quarter are lower than another, operating expenses may not be able to be

proportionately reduced for that quarter.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

University of Phoenix Online currently is able to provide for its own capital expenditures and cash required for operations.

University of Phoenix Online does not maintain a bank account; rather, all of its cash receipts and cash disbursements are

processed by us on its behalf. Cash generated by Apollo Education Group and University of Phoenix Online has been and

will continue to be managed centrally by us. University of Phoenix Online’s liquidity could be adversely affected by the

investment decisions we make.

Net cash provided by operating activities increased to $18.5 million in 2000 from $6.1 million in 1999. The increase resulted

primarily from increased net income, a smaller increase in accounts receivable, and an increase in student deposits and

deferred revenue. These increases were partially offset by increased other assets. The smaller increase in accounts receivable

was primarily attributable to increased efficiency of financial aid processing in 2000.

Capital expenditures increased to $3.7 million in 2000 from $2.6 million in 1999 due primarily to continued growth in operations.

Total purchases of property and equipment for the year ended August 31, 2001, are expected to range from $4.0 to $6.0 million.

These expenditures will primarily be related to increases in normal recurring capital expenditures due to the overall increase

in students and employees resulting from the growth in the business.
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On March 24, 2000, the Board of Directors of Apollo Group, Inc. (“Apollo”) authorized the issuance of a new class of stock

called University of Phoenix Online common stock, that is intended to reflect the separate performance of University of

Phoenix Online, a division of the University of Phoenix, Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of Apollo. Apollo’s other businesses

and its retained interest in University of Phoenix Online are referred to as “Apollo Education Group.” On October 3, 2000, an

offering of 5,750,000 shares of University of Phoenix Online common stock was completed at a price of $14.00 per share. This

stock represented a 10.8% interest in University of Phoenix Online with Apollo Education Group retaining the remaining

89.2% interest in University of Phoenix Online. 

We have allocated all of the net proceeds from the University of Phoenix Online common stock offering to University of

Phoenix Online. In addition, although we have no obligation to provide funds to University of Phoenix Online and the decision

to do so is within the discretion of our Board of Directors, it is our present intention to fund, if needed, the operations and

cash flow needs of University of Phoenix Online through fiscal 2001.

In January 1998, the U.S. Department of Education Office of the Inspector General (“OIG”) began performing an audit of

University of Phoenix’s administration of the Title IV Programs. The team previously presented questions regarding University

of Phoenix’s interpretation of the “12-hour rule,” distance education programs, and institutional refund obligations. University

of Phoenix reached an agreement with the U.S. Department of Education which acknowledges no admission that there were

any issues of non-compliance or errors by University of Phoenix. To bring this audit to closure and settle all outstanding

issues prior to the final OIG report, which was issued on March 31, 2000, University of Phoenix agreed to modify its physical

campus learning team attendance log to track the sites of learning team meetings and record the hours attended. This 

modification is not expected to have a negative impact on either University of Phoenix or its students. This modification

does not require any change to University of Phoenix Online’s learning team attendance log. Part of the agreement, dated

March 27, 2000, reached with the U.S. Department of Education requires University of Phoenix to pay the U.S. Department 

of Education $6.0 million as a negotiated settlement in full satisfaction of all monetary findings arising under the final OIG

audit report. Approximately $1.1 million of this amount was allocated to University of Phoenix Online during the third 

quarter of the fiscal year ending August 31, 2000 in accordance with the corporate expense allocation policy. This amount 

is reflected in University of Phoenix Online’s instructional costs and services.
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R E P O R T  O F  I N D E P E N D E N T  A C C O U N T A N T S

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Apollo Group, Inc.:

In our opinion, the accompanying balance sheet and the related statements of operations and of cash flows present fairly, in

all material respects, the financial position of University of Phoenix Online at August 31, 2000 and 1999, and the results of its

operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended August 31, 2000, in conformity with accounting

principles generally accepted in the United States of America. These financial statements are the responsibility of Apollo

Group, Inc.’s management; our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We

conducted our audits of these statements in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 

of America, which require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial

statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts

and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by

management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable

basis for our opinion.

As described in Note 1, University of Phoenix Online is a division of the University of Phoenix, Inc., a wholly-owned 

subsidiary of Apollo Group, Inc. Accordingly, the financial statements of University of Phoenix Online should be read in 

conjunction with the audited financial statements of Apollo Group, Inc.

Phoenix, Arizona 

September 29, 2000
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U N I V E R S I T Y  O F  P H O E N I X  O N L I N E

(a division of the University of Phoenix, Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of Apollo Group, Inc.)

B A L A N C E  S H E E T
A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9

(In thousands)

Assets: 
Current assets 

Receivables, net $ 13,991 $ 11,133 
Other current assets 482 147 

Total current assets 14,473 11,280 
Property and equipment, net 5,940 3,575 
Other assets 1,549 16 
Total assets $ 21,962 $ 14,871 

Liabilities and Divisional Net Worth: 
Current liabilities

Accounts payable $ 245 $ 140
Accrued liabilities 1,220 1,626 
Student deposits and deferred tuition revenue 14,526 10,023 

Total current liabilities 15,991 11,789 
Long-term liabilities 123 —
Total liabilities 16,114 11,789 
Commitments and contingencies 
Divisional net worth

Funds allocated to/from Apollo Education Group (23,747) (9,031)
Accumulated earnings 29,595 12,113 

Total divisional net worth 5,848 3,082 
Total liabilities and divisional net worth $ 21,962 $ 14,871 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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S T A T E M E N T  O F  O P E R A T I O N S

Y E A R  E N D E D  A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9 1 9 9 8

(In thousands)

Revenues: 
Tuition and other, net $102,613 $69,582 $ 45,081 

Costs and expenses: 
Instructional costs and services 49,814 39,582 25,443 
Selling and promotional 16,268 11,516 7,917 
General and administrative 7,248 5,352 3,960 

73,330 56,450 37,320 
Income from operations 29,283 13,132 7,761 
Provision for income taxes 11,801 5,323 3,151 
Net income $ 17,482 $ 7,809 $ 4,610 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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S T A T E M E N T  O F  C A S H  F L O W S

Y E A R  E N D E D  A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9 1 9 9 8

(In thousands)

Cash flows provided by (used for) operating activities: 
Net income $17,482 $ 7,809 $ 4,610 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities: 

Depreciation and amortization 1,383 922 571 
Provision for uncollectible accounts 2,129 2,411 784 

Decrease (increase) in assets: 
Receivables, net (4,987) (7,001) (3,681)
Other assets (1,884) (131) 33 

Increase (decrease) in liabilities: 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (301) (66) 1,041 
Student deposits and deferred revenue 4,503 2,260 2,130 
Other liabilities 123 (60) (17)

Net cash provided by operating activities 18,448 6,144 5,471 
Cash flows used for investing activities: 

Net additions to property and equipment (3,732) (2,556) (814)
Net cash used for investing activities (3,732) (2,556) (814)
Cash flows used for financing activities: 

Funds allocated to/from Apollo Education Group (14,716) (3,588) (4,657)
Net cash used for financing activities (14,716) (3,588) (4,657)
Net change in cash — — —
Cash at beginning of year — — —
Cash at end of year $ — $ — $ —

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Note 1. Nature of Operations and Basis of Presentation

On March 24, 2000, the Board of Directors of Apollo Group, Inc. (“Apollo”) authorized the issuance of a new class of stock called

University of Phoenix Online common stock, that is intended to reflect the separate performance of University of Phoenix Online, 

a division of the University of Phoenix, Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of Apollo. Apollo’s other businesses and its retained

interest in University of Phoenix Online are referred to as “Apollo Education Group.” On October 3, 2000, an offering of

5,750,000 shares of University of Phoenix Online common stock was completed at a price of $14.00 per share. This stock 

represented a 10.8% interest in University of Phoenix Online with Apollo Education Group retaining the remaining 

89.2% interest in University of Phoenix Online.  

University of Phoenix Online is the online division of University of Phoenix which is a regionally accredited, private institution

of higher education offering associates, bachelors, masters, and doctoral degree programs in business, management, computer

information systems, education, and health care. University of Phoenix Online offers its educational programs worldwide

through its computerized educational delivery system. University of Phoenix is accredited by the Commission on Institutions

of Higher Education of the North Central Association of Colleges and Schools.

The accompanying financial statements provide financial information regarding the underlying business of University of

Phoenix Online. Even though Apollo Group, Inc. has separated its assets, liabilities, revenues, and expenses between Apollo

Education Group and University of Phoenix Online for purposes of tracking the economic performance of each of University

of Phoenix Online and Apollo Education Group, that separation will not change the legal title to any assets or the responsibility

for any liabilities and will not affect the rights of creditors. Holders of University of Phoenix Online common stock are common

stockholders of Apollo Group, Inc. and are subject to all the risks associated with an investment in Apollo Group, Inc.’s assets

and liabilities. Material financial events which may occur at Apollo Education Group may affect University of Phoenix Online’s

results of operations or financial position. Accordingly, University of Phoenix Online’s financial statements should be read in

conjunction with Apollo Group, Inc.’s consolidated financial statements.

The provision of services and other matters between University of Phoenix Online and Apollo Education Group, including

the right to use the curriculum, trademarks, and copyrights of Apollo Group, Inc. and its subsidiaries, are governed by 

corporate expense, income tax, and license allocation policies, which are described in Note 3. Related Party Transactions.

These policies were not in place prior to March 24, 2000. However, in order to prepare financial statements that include

charges and benefits of the types provided for under these polices, the accompanying financial statements reflect charges

and benefits that would have applied if these policies had been in effect during the periods presented.

University of Phoenix Online’s fiscal year is from September 1 to August 31. Unless otherwise stated, references to the years

2000, 1999, and 1998 relate to the fiscal years ended August 31, 2000, 1999, and 1998, respectively.

Note 2. Significant Accounting Policies

Property and equipment   Property and equipment is recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation. University of 

Phoenix Online capitalizes the cost of software used for internal operations once technological feasibility of the software has

been demonstrated. Such costs consist primarily of custom-developed and packaged software and the direct labor costs 

of internally-developed software. Depreciation is provided on all furniture, equipment, and software using the straight-line

method over the estimated useful lives of the related assets which range from three to seven years, except software which is

depreciated over three to five years. Leasehold improvements are amortized using the straight-line method over the shorter

of the lease term or the estimated useful lives of the related assets. Maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred.
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Revenues, receivables, and related liabilities   Tuition and other revenues are shown net of discounts relating to a variety of

promotional programs. University of Phoenix Online’s educational degree programs last up to four years. Students in degree

programs enroll in a program of study that encompasses a series of five to six week courses that are taken consecutively over

the length of the program. Students are billed on a course-by-course basis, when the student first attends a session, resulting

in the recording of a receivable from the student and deferred tuition revenue in the amount of the billing. The revenue for

each course is recognized on a pro rata basis over the period of instruction.

Many of University of Phoenix Online’s students participate in government sponsored financial aid programs under Title IV

of the Higher Education Act of 1965. These financial aid programs generally consist of guaranteed student loans and direct

grants to students. Guaranteed student loans are issued directly to the student by external financial institutions, to whom

the student is obligated, and are non-recourse to University of Phoenix.

Student deposits consist of payments made in advance of billings. As the student is billed, the student deposit is applied

against the resulting student receivable.

Earnings per share   Earnings per share for University of Phoenix Online has been omitted from the accompanying statement

of operations since University of Phoenix Online common stock is a class of stock of Apollo Group, Inc. and is not part of the

capital structure of University of Phoenix Online.

Beginning in the first quarter of fiscal year 2001, the consolidated financial statements of Apollo Group, Inc. will present

basic and diluted earnings per share for Apollo Education Group common stock and University of Phoenix Online common

stock using the two-class method. The two-class method is an earnings allocation formula that determines the earnings per

share for Apollo Education Group common stock and University of Phoenix Online common stock according to participation

rights in undistributed earnings. 

Fair value of financial instruments   The carrying amount reported in the balance sheet for accounts receivable, accounts

payable, accrued liabilities, and student deposits and deferred tuition revenue approximates fair value because of the short-term

nature of these financial instruments.

Selling and promotional costs   University of Phoenix Online expenses selling and promotional costs as incurred. Selling

and promotional costs include marketing salaries, direct-response and other advertising, promotional materials, and 

related marketing costs.

New accounting pronouncements   During December 1999, the Securities and Exchange Commission issued Staff Accounting

Bulletin No. 101 “Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements” (“SAB No. 101”), which provides guidance on the recognition,

presentation, and disclosure of revenue in financial statements filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission. University

of Phoenix Online was originally required to implement SAB No. 101 in the first quarter of its fiscal year ending August 31, 2001;

however, in June 2000, the Securities and Exchange Commission amended SAB No. 101 to delay the required implementation

date. As a result, University of Phoenix Online must now implement the related guideline in the fourth quarter of its fiscal

year ending August 31, 2001. Although the analysis of the impact of SAB No. 101 has not been completed, it is not expected

to have a material effect on University of Phoenix Online’s results of operations.

Use of estimates   The preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in

the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of

assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amount of revenues and expenses during the

reporting period. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

Comprehensive income   Comprehensive income includes all changes in divisional net worth during a period from 

non-owner sources. University of Phoenix Online has not had any transactions, other than net income, that are required 

to be reported in comprehensive income.
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Note 3. Related Party Transactions

University of Phoenix Online’s financial statements reflect the application of certain expense allocation and treasury activity

policies summarized below. Although it has no present intention to do so, the Board of Directors of Apollo Group, Inc. may

rescind, modify, or add to any of these policies. While management believes that these allocation methods are reasonable,

the allocated expenses are not necessarily indicative of, and it is not practicable for us to estimate, the levels of expenses 

that would have been incurred if University of Phoenix Online had been operating as an independent company.

Corporate expenses   In order to prepare the accompanying financial statements, certain costs incurred by Apollo Group, Inc.

and University of Phoenix were allocated to University of Phoenix Online on the basis of its revenues in relation to those of

Apollo Group, Inc. and University of Phoenix. The allocation of such expenses to University of Phoenix Online was as follows,

in thousands:

Y E A R  E N D E D  A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9 1 9 9 8

Instructional costs and services $ 9,265 $ 4,995 $3,223 
Selling and promotional 772 201 166 
General and administrative 7,248 5,352 3,960 

$17,285 $10,548 $ 7,349 

License fee   Apollo Group, Inc. charges University of Phoenix Online a license fee equal to 4% of University of Phoenix Online’s

net revenues for the use of curriculum, trademarks, and copyrights owned by Apollo Group, Inc. and its subsidiaries. The

license fee, which is included in instructional costs and services in the accompanying statement of operations, was $4.1 million,

$2.8 million, and $1.8 million for the years ended August 31, 2000, 1999, and 1998, respectively.

Income taxes   University of Phoenix Online’s results, along with those of University of Phoenix’s other divisions, are included

in Apollo Group, Inc.’s consolidated federal income tax return. State taxes are paid based upon apportioned taxable income

or loss of Apollo Group, Inc., with the exception of certain state taxes that are based upon an apportionment of University of

Phoenix taxable income or loss.

The provision for income taxes included in the accompanying statement of operations has been calculated on a separate

company basis. The related current and deferred tax assets and liabilities are settled with University of Phoenix at the end 

of each period through the funds allocated to/from Apollo Education Group component of divisional net worth.

University of Phoenix Online’s effective income tax rate differs from the federal statutory tax rate primarily as a result of 

state income taxes.

Treasury activities   Since its inception, Apollo Group, Inc. has financed University of Phoenix Online’s operations internally

and has not incurred any related third party debt. University of Phoenix Online does not maintain a bank account; rather 

all of its cash receipts and disbursements are processed by Apollo Group, Inc. on University of Phoenix Online’s behalf.

Currently all amounts are settled through the funds allocated to/from Apollo Education Group component of University of

Phoenix Online’s divisional net worth. Whenever University of Phoenix Online generates cash from operations, that cash is

deemed to be transferred to Apollo Education Group and is accounted for as a return of capital. Whenever University of

Phoenix Online has a cash need, that cash need is deemed to be transferred from Apollo Education Group and is accounted

for as a capital contribution. As a result of this policy, the accompanying statement of operations does not reflect any 

inter-group interest income or expense. 

The difference between the net proceeds of the University of Phoenix Online common stock offering and outlays attributable

to University of Phoenix Online following the offering has been accounted for as a revolving credit allowance from University

of Phoenix Online to Apollo Education Group requiring the reflection of interest expense by Apollo Education Group and

interest income by University of Phoenix Online at the rate of interest determined by the Board of Directors. Any other cash

transfers accounted for as revolving credit advances will not bear interest unless the Board of Directors determines otherwise.

As a result of this change in policy, the consolidating statement of operations data for periods subsequent to the offering

may reflect inter-group interest income and expense. Accordingly, operating results for University of Phoenix Online for periods

subsequent to this offering may not be comparable to such operating results prior to this offering.
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Note 4. Balance Sheet Components

Receivables consist of the following, in thousands: 

A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9

Trade receivables $ 15,717 $12,657 
Less allowance for doubtful accounts (1,726) (1,524)

Total receivables, net $13,991 $11,133 

Bad debt expense was $2.1 million, $2.4 million, and $784,000 for 2000, 1999, and 1998, respectively.

Property and equipment consist of the following, in thousands: 

A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9

Furniture and equipment $ 6,277 $5,190 
Software 540 507 
Leasehold improvements 1,632 257 

8,449 5,954 
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (2,509) (2,379)

Property and equipment, net $ 5,940 $3,575 

Depreciation and amortization expense was $1,367,000, $922,000, and $571,000 for 2000, 1999, and 1998, respectively.

Accrued liabilities consist of the following, in thousands: 

A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9

Salaries, wages, and benefits $ 1,046 $ 981 
Other accrued liabilities 174 645 

Total accrued liabilities $ 1,220 $ 1,626 

Student deposits and deferred tuition revenue consist of the following, in thousands:

A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9

Student deposits $ 6,123 $ 6,363 
Deferred tuition revenue 8,403 3,660 

Total student deposits and deferred tuition revenue $14,526 $10,023 

Divisional net worth activity for the years ended August 31, is as follows, in thousands:
F U N D S A C C U M U -

A L L O C A T E D L A T E D
T O / F R O M  A P O L L O E A R N I N G S

E D U C A T I O N  G R O U P ( L O S S E S ) T O T A L

Balance at August 31, 1998 $ (5,443) $ 4,304 $(1,139)
Net income 7,809 7,809 
Funds allocated to/from Apollo Education Group (3,588) (3,588)

Balance at August 31, 1999 (9,031) 12,113 3,082 
Net income 17,482 17,482 
Funds allocated to/from Apollo Education Group (14,716) (14,716)

Balance at August 31, 2000 $(23,747) $29,595 $ 5,848 

University of Phoenix Online and Apollo Education Group had no intercompany purchases or cash transfers for the fiscal

years ended August 31, 2000 and 1999.

Note 5. Benefit Plans

Employees of University of Phoenix Online are eligible to participate in Apollo Group, Inc.’s various health, welfare, and 

disability benefit programs offered to its full-time, salaried employees which are funded primarily by Apollo Education Group

contributions. Additionally, eligible employees also participate in Apollo Group, Inc.’s 401(k) plan as well as its employee

stock option and stock purchase plans. Apollo Group, Inc. does not provide post-employment or post-retirement health care

and life insurance benefits to University of Phoenix Online’s employees.
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Note 6. Commitments and Contingencies

University of Phoenix Online is obligated under facility and equipment leases that are classified as operating leases. Following

is a schedule of future minimum lease commitments as of August 31, 2000, in thousands:

E Q U I P M E N T  
O P E R A T I N G  L E A S E S F A C I L I T I E S &  O T H E R

2001 $ 903 $10
2002 967 3
2003 975 
2004 984 
2005 992 
Thereafter 4,016 

$8,837 $13

Facility and equipment rent expense totaled $1.2 million, $1.4 million, and $1.1 million for 2000, 1999, and 1998, respectively.

There are no legal proceedings to which Apollo Group, Inc. is a party pertaining to the business and operations of University

of Phoenix Online, other than those occurring in the normal course of business. Management believes that the disposition

of these cases will not have a material adverse impact on the financial position or results of operations of Apollo Education

Group or University of Phoenix Online.

In January 1998, the U.S. Department of Education Office of the Inspector General (“OIG”) began performing an audit 

of University of Phoenix’s administration of the Title IV Programs. The team previously presented questions regarding

University of Phoenix’s interpretation of the “12-hour rule,” distance education programs, and institutional refund obligations.

University of Phoenix reached an agreement with the U.S. Department of Education which acknowledges no admission that

there were any issues of non-compliance or errors by University of Phoenix. To bring this audit to closure and settle all 

outstanding issues prior to the final OIG report, which was issued on March 31, 2000, University of Phoenix agreed to modify

its physical campus learning team attendance log to track the sites of learning team meetings and record the hours attended.

This modification is not expected to have a negative impact on either University of Phoenix or its students. This modification

does not require any change to University of Phoenix Online’s learning team attendance log. Part of the agreement, dated

March 27, 2000, reached with the U.S. Department of Education requires University of Phoenix to pay the U.S. Department

of Education $6.0 million as a negotiated settlement in full satisfaction of all monetary findings arising under the final

OIG audit report. Approximately $1.1 million of this amount was allocated to University of Phoenix Online during 2000 in

accordance with the corporate expense allocation policy and has been reflected in University of Phoenix Online’s 

instructional costs and services.

Note 7. Quarterly Results of Operations (Unaudited)

The following table sets forth selected unaudited quarterly financial information of University of Phoenix Online for each of

the last eight quarters. 
2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9

A U G . 3 1 , M A Y  3 1 , F E B . 2 9 , N O V . 3 0 , A U G . 3 1 , M A Y  3 1 , F E B . 2 8 , N O V . 3 0 ,
2 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9 1 9 9 9 1 9 9 9 1 9 9 9 1 9 9 8

(In thousands) 

Revenues: 
Tuition and other, net $31,661 $ 28,367 $21,868 $20,717 $19,332 $19,304 $16,051 $14,895 

Costs and expenses:
Instructional costs and services(1) 13,525 14,478 11,269 10,542 11,655 10,808 8,614 8,505 
Selling and promotional 5,754 4,208 3,220 3,086 3,493 2,530 2,946 2,547 
General and administrative 2,287 1,873 1,585 1,503 1,674 1,192 1,430 1,056 

21,566 20,559 16,074 15,131 16,822 14,530 12,990 12,108 
Income from operations 10,095 7,808 5,794 5,586 2,510 4,774 3,061 2,787 
Provision for income taxes 4,059 3,132 2,346 2,264 1,017 1,935 1,242 1,129 
Net income $ 6,036 $ 4,676 $ 3,448 $ 3,322 $ 1,493 $ 2,839 $ 1,819 $ 1,658 

(1) Includes University of Phoenix Online’s allocation of $1.1 million (3.9% of tuition and other net revenues) of the $6.0 million charge related to the U.S. Department
of Education agreement in the May 31, 2000 quarter.
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